KEY PEOPLE IN LAND DEMAND, CONSENT, ACQUISITION

Note: The information below is taken from biographical reference works (see Reference List),
other sections of the report, Department of Indian Affairs and Department of the Interior
Establishment books, and specific sources cited.

Adamson, Alan Joseph (born Ireland, married Julia Turiff, sister of J.G. Turiff), telegraph
contractor, Battleford,1875; farmed in Manitoba to 1891, then went into grain business; hardware
merchant, realtor, Rosthern, Sask., 1898-1900; set up Western Trust Company, moved to
Winnipeg; elected to House of Commons for Humboldt 1904; one of first directors of
Saskatchewan Valley Land Co.; scrip speculator; named in Ferguson report as receiving grazing
lease favours from brother-in-law J.G. Turiff while latter was Land Commissioner, Interior;
investor in Canadian Farmer, c. 1907, with Sifton and possibly Oliver; director of Canadian
Territories Corp.; acquired land from Chacastapaysin; principal investor in Western Trust
Company, with Turiff.

Adams Brothers of Brandon, added to patronage list September 1898 (NA, RG 10, vol. 1122,
McLean to Forget); associates of Clifford Sifton in Brandon.

Aikins, James Albert Manning (born Grahamsville, Ont.), barrister in Winnipeg 1879; counsel
for Department of Justice, 1879-96; counsel for government of Manitoba, 1900; counsel for CPR
in western Canada from 1881; brother of John S. Aikins (realtor, member of Manitoba
legislature, 1879, and director of Manitoba and Northwest Loan Company); according to letter
from C.A. Masten to Sifton January 29, 1898, had some business dealings with Sifton, which
may have been in connection with Manitoba Free Press (NA, Sifton Papers, MG27, II D 15,
C475, 31522).

Aikins, W. J. (from Dunnville, Ont.), bought land at Moosomin/Thunderchild sales; partner in
purchase with William Preston of Dunnville, who was also partner with F.W. Grant. There is
also a Wesley Aikins who acquired land at Crooked Lakes.

Alloway, William Forbes (born Ireland), part of Red River expedition; became banker,
Winnipeg, with Alloway and Champion; Liberal; scrip dealer; acquired land from
Key/Keeseekoose, Cumberland IR 100A, and Chacastapaysin.

Anderson, William, Agent at Edmonton Agency in the 1880s and involved in the pressure to
take the Passpasschase reserve; transferred to Regina in 1887 to an office job, because of poor

health.

Annable, Humphrey F., bought land at Peigan sale 1909; director of Great Northern Land Co.,
Taber, Alberta.

Antoine, Chief, signed Roseau River surrender and affidavit.

Armstrong, Joseph (from Millbrook, Ont.), banker in Omaha, Armstrong and Wood; in real
estate in Omaha, Armstrong, Alexander and Co.; part of the scheme to buy Moose Mountain
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reserves, with George West, but his signature was forged on the documents. His role was to buy
from West, after the deal was made, but he leaked news of the venture to his friends in Souris,
Manitoba.

Aspdin, Thomas (born England 1854, died February 1906), served in west in North-West
Mounted Police from 1873; began to work for Indian Department, Moose Jaw, c. 1890;
appointed Farmer in Charge of Assiniboine Agency 1897; appointed to look after interests of
Sioux refugees 1900; appointed Agent, March 1901, recommended by Walter Scott: was
commended as one of best officials in Department (NA, Sifton Papers, MG 27, April 3, 1900-
May 6, 1901); took surrender at Carry the Kettle 1905; replaced by W.S. Grant.

Awrey, Herbert N. (born 1869 Ontario), hired 1902, clerk at Headquarters, Indian Affairs;
assisted Maria Allison in submitting tenders for Michel lands 1904 (she was apparently working
on his behalf); acquired land at Cote and Kahkewistahaw while a departmental employee;
promoted through system, retiring in 1937.

Bain, John (born Scotland), Sifton's financial adviser; worked for International Marine Signal
Company; became private secretary to Minister of Customs, 1896; Assistant Commissioner,
Customs of Canada, 1906-07; also seemed to have worked at one time as intelligence agent for
His Majesty's Board of Trade, c. 1910. Could he have been related to William Bain, accountant
in firm of Blake, Lash, Anglin and Cassels, in Toronto? William Bain invested in the
Saskatchewan Valley Land Co., and in the Saskatchewan Valley and Manitoba Land Co.

Bean, Francis Atherton, of New Prague, Minn., F.A. Bean Properties held land in
Saskatchewan and Manitoba; represented by Blake, Lash, Cassels, and Anglin; acquired land in
Crooked Lakes sale by assignment.

Beaumont, R.B., barrister, Toronto; one of the three Toronto lawyers who submitted bids on
Moose Mountain lands.

Bedford-Jones, Alban Cartwright, law partner of Frank Pedley, 1894-97; continued to be
involved in business affairs with Pedley; involved in the false tendering process for Moose
Mountain and Chacastapaysin reserve lands with Pedley, White, and Smart. He received notice
of Crooked Lakes land sales in 1908 and appears to have been on regular distribution list for
notices.

Bell, William Robert, investor, Qu'Appelle Valley Farming Co, and Bell Farming Co.;
established the Bell Farm near Indian Head.

Bennett, Wilbur Van Horn (born Alberta, married Sadie McElhinney), had worked for Union
Pacific Railway in Omaha; had real estate business in Omaha with William McElhinney, his
brother-in-law; had worked as immigration/land sales agent for CPR; Canadian Immigration
Agent, Omaha, Nebraska 1897, after lobbying by J.F. Lee of CPR; wife Sadie employed as his
assistant; bought land at Sharphead sales 1899-1907, sold by Dominion Lands Agent; assignee for
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major portion of lands from Grizzly Bear's Head and Lean Man reserve, Saskatchewan, with
Leonard Schiebel, and Henry Yates and Wallace Shepard of Omaha; associated also with firm of
Champagne, Simpson, and Speers, Battleford. Is this the W. H. Bennett who wrote to
Department 1896 about cutting privileges on reserves, and lists himself as a former Member of
Parliament from Midland (NA, RG 10, vol. 1118, Letter from McLean to Bennett May 7)?

Blewett, William George, farming instructor Edmonton Agency, ¢.1899-1900; moved to Pelly
in early 1907; Agent at Pelly at time of Key and Keeseekoose surrenders; negotiated and
witnessed surrenders 1908-09; director of Kamsack Land Co. c¢. 1908 with J.D. Wallace, Graham
Ingram, and other merchants and professionals; removed from office 1912; reinstated, but
resigned in 1915.

Bray, Samuel, appointed Chief Surveyor 1899 (J.K. McLean and J.L. Reid under his employ);
English; worked for railways in the east before entering public service 1884; later spent eight
years in Mexico.

Brown, George William, Liberal lawyer and farmer, came to Regina 1882; partner of Norman
MacKenzie; director of Northern Trusts Co.; elected to Legislative Assembly, NWT, 1894, with
Oliver; appointed Lieutenant Governor 1910; invited to Alice Tye's birthday party at
William Graham's house, c. 1915; named in Ferguson Commission report in connection with
Craven Dam land sales. Brown had benefited from buying Dominion lands at low price and
reselling at profit when the goverment expropriated them for the Craven Dam; Walter Scott, who
became premier, assisted Brown in getting the lands.

Brown, James T., Liberal lawyer from Moosomin, Sask.; Crown prosecutor; served in
Saskatchewan Legislature 1905; ran unsuccessfully for House of Commons 1908; bought land at
Moosomin/Thunderchild sale but defaulted on most; bought land at Crooked Lakes sale 1908;
named to Court of King's Bench in 1910, and Chief Justice of that court 1918. He complained to
Clifford Sifton in 1904 that a Conservative Crown prosecutor had been appointed in Yorkton,
taking that district out of his own circuit, and denying Liberal favours (NA, Sifton Papers, MG
27,11 D 15, C508).

Budyens, Mr, listed in newspaper as major buyer at Swan Lake; possibly connected with
William Heard, Sam Armstrong, A.R. McMillan, and Archie Campbell, who were listed as
speculators. Budyens was not on sales book.

Bulyea, George H.V., appointed to Executive Council, NWT, 1892; elected to NWT Legislative
Assembly 1894; Commissioner of Agriculture for NWT 1902, Public Works 1903; Lieutenant
Governor of Alberta 1905; recommended by Commissioner Forget on May 31, 1897, for position
of Inspector for Qu'Appelle, but McGibbon appointed (NA, RG 10, vol. 1120, May 31, 1897,
Memo to Governor General in Council); director of Western Land and Development Co, with J.
H. Ross; wrote in January 1902 to push a land surrender for Muscowpetung, on behalf of some
men in Qu'Appelle; was in regular contact with Clifford Sifton 1900-03; acquired stock in
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Saskatchewan Valley and Manitoba Land Co.; pushed appointment of farmer A.H. Miles at File
Hills 1901 (NA, Sifton Papers, MG 27, letter book 5 - telegrams).

Burrows, Theodore Arthur, lumber merchant, Manitoba; brother-in-law of Clifford Sifton;
Liberal member Manitoba Legislature 1892-1903; sat in House of Commons 1904-08; Lands
Commissioner for Canadian Northern Railway. In 1900 Sifton wrote him and told him to get
busy organizing a Liberal Association in Dauphin (NA, Sifton Papers, MG 27, letter books,
October 5, 1900); co-investor with Sifton in Canadian Farmer newspaper.

Butcher, Chief, Head Chief, Peigan; opposed 1909 surrender.

Calder, James A., principal of Moose Jaw high school 1891-94; served in territorial government
as inspector of schools and deputy minister of education; Liberal; elected to Saskatchewan
Legislature 1905; held portfolios in education, railways, telegraphs and telephones; member of
Assiniboia club .

Calihoo, Chief Michel, Chief of Michel at time of 1903 surrender; signed affidavit.

Cameron, Harry, interpreter, Crooked Lakes, 1888; bought land at Crooked Lakes land sale
while working there.

Campbell, James Jamieson (born Bombay, India, brother to John Joseph), clerk in Regina from
1886; transferred to Inside service 1894; chief clerk 1906; acquired land in the Moose Mountain
sale of 1901, while a clerk.

Campbell, John Joseph, clerk, Commissioner's Office, 1886; Agent, Moose Mountain, until
dismissed in 1897; accused by Liberals of being partisan and of having worked against the
election of J. M. Douglas.

Carruthers, Henry A. (born Ireland 1854), clerk in Regina 1886; clerk Touchwood Hills by
1894 (see NA, RG 10, vol. 3772, file 34984).

In 1897, Commissioner Forget recommended that Carruthers be dismissed when Agency
clerkship abolished; instead he was made resident farmer at Gordon's reserve when he offered to
act as farmer as well as clerk, and when his father, George Carruthers of Weymouth, England,
wrote to Prime Minister Laurier asking that Henry keep his job, even though he was not a Liberal.
This letter was referred by Laurier to Sifton, in July 1897, who asked Forget for an explanation.
Henry wrote to Sifton explaining his father's letter, and his own situation. Accused of being a
Conservative partisan, he admitted having voted for Davin the last election, but only because
there was no suitable Liberal candidate. Carruthers spoke in praise of D.H. McDonald and James
H. Ross as Liberals, but said that he felt he should not take an active part in politics while acting
for the Government. Both Carruthers and Forget asserted his basic competence in office (NA,
Sifton Papers, MG 27, C456, 8598). — In 1898 he applied for Agent's job at Touchwood, citing
support of Prime Minister Laurier, Commissioner Forget, and D.H. McDonald (leading Liberal of
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Qu'Appelle, he said); he offered to run the Agency using his wife as clerk. However, the
incumbent, S. Swinford, did not leave right away, and Carruthers stayed until July 1899, when
Smart recommended that he be transferred because of poor job performance. McLean defended
him on the basis of the Inspector's reports, but he was transferred to Edmonton Agency early
1900 to take Mr Lake's place, over Oliver's recommendation of another man. Then the settlers in
that area complained to Oliver in 1902 that he blocked access to the sawmill and did not allow a
flour mill to be built. Carruthers defended himself against the charges, and blamed the miller,
Thomas McGee, for trying to get rid of him. He was supported by Agent Gibbons. Soon after
that, in August 1902, Oliver tried to have George Sutherland appointed to replace Carruthers. In
1903 Carruthers was transferred to Pelly Agency. In May 1904 William Graham complained that
Carruthers was too fond of complaining and finding obstacles for his work. In 1906 he suffered a
serious gun shot wound; J.I Wallace of Pelly (who would be a key player in later Cote surrenders
and sales) signed the medical certificate for leave. Carruthers died in late 1906. (NA, RG 10, vol.
3877, file 91839-1; also NA, RG 10, vol. 1125; see also NA, Sifton Papers, MG 27, letter book
July 14, 1897, to December 1, 1898). — On December 2, 1902, Secretary McLean informed
Carruthers that the tenders for the Stony Plain land would be opened in the next day or so. "I
hope, however, that the person you are interested in will be successful." (NA, RG 10, vol. 1125)
Ellen Carruthers, his wife, acquired land by tender at that sale.

Witnessed Enoch 1902 surrender while Agency clerk ; did first negotiations with Fishing
Lake for surrender while at Pelly Agency, 1905; took Cote 1904 and 1905 surrenders.

Carry the Kettle, Chief, Chief, signed the 1905 surrender.

Case, Eugene, from Minneapolis; Canadian-American Land Co.; acquired interest in Moose
Mountain lands from Bedford-Jones, then assigned them to A.S. Porter and C.E. Diehl.

Cash, E.L. , physician; did medical work for Pelly Agency after 1897 reorganization, having
been recommended to Sifton by James M. Douglas and other local Liberals (NA, Sifton Papers,
MG 27, C456, 8643); Member of Parliament for Yorkton; inquired about Key/Keeseekoose
surrenders 1908; on mailing list for information about land sales; acquired land at Little Bone;
organized purchases at 1908 auction of Cote lands; co-investor in Canadian Farmer c. 1907 with
Sifton and possibly Oliver; originally from Ontario, but had worked and farmed in Nebraska
before coming to Canada in 1896.

Champagne, Albert, Battleford area MLA before 1908; Member of Parliament 1908-19; part of
Champagne, Speers, and Simpson firm which participated in Moosomin/Thunderchild and
Grizzly Bear's Head/Lean Man, and Swan Lake IR 7A sales; conferred with Pedley in 1907 in
reference to need for surrender at Moosomin and Thunderchild.

Champion, Henry Thomson. See Alloway, William Francis

Chew, Manley, lumber merchant from Midland, Ont., and Liberal Member of Parliament; sought
rights to cut timber off Beckwith Island as early as 1896 and may have gotten licence without
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surrender (NA, RG 10, vol. 1118). Chew, George, brother of Manley, had audience with Sifton
November 1903 (NA, Sifton Papers, MG 27, letter book 6).

Chrysler, Francis Henry (born Ontario, address Ottawa), barrister and investor; business
associate of Clifford Sifton; acted as legal agent for government of Canada 1896; co-investor
with Masten in Canadian Northern Land Co., which Sifton used as land-buying agent; partner
with Charles Bethune; did regulatory work on contract for several railway companies .

Clark, Orange (Clifford Sifton's cousin; sister married to Samuel Jackson), Liberal lawyer;
appointed solicitor for Canadian Northern Railway 1906; appointed solicitor for St Peter's Band
before Howell Commission 1906.

Clarke (or Clark), Samuel, bought land at Pasqua and Carry the Kettle; MPP and businessman
from Cobourg, Ont.; according to Tyler and Wright, a confidant of Frank Pedley's father-in-law;
bought land in west for a group of Ontario farmers 1899 (Tyler and Wright 1978, 109). He may
have been the individual who had a lease at Munsey; the Indians wanted him removed from the
reserve in 1897. The matter went to Member of Parliament McGuigan (NA, RG 10, vol. 1121).

Collier, A.P., Sifton's private secretary when he first became Minister of Interior; member of the
Canadian Labour Bureau, with offices in England and Winnipeg (CNOR offices). His personal
letterhead 1904 included reference to sales of Canadian farm lands, and in a letter of October 26,
1904, to Sifton, he made reference to selling real estate in Manitoba.

Joined with Sifton in Canadian Investment and Brokerage Co. 1902.

Collier, E.R. , employee of Saskatchewan Valley and Manitoba Land Co., possibly based out of
Winnipeg.

Collier, W.H., acquired Crooked Lakes lands 1911, by assignment from Halsey and McNider,
but lost option to purchase.

Collings, G.W. (from Togo, Sask.), auctioneer at Pelly sales 1910.

Cory, W.W., Minister of Interior after James A. Smart left in early 1905; previously secretary of
Liberal Committee in Brandon (NA, Sifton Papers, MG 27, letter book Brandon and Winnipeg
August-Nov. 1900).

Cote, Chief Joseph, Chief, Cote Band, for 1904 and 1905 surrenders.

Davidson, Alexander Rae, brother of A. D. Davidson; moved to Wisconsin from Glencoe, Ont.,
and engaged in banking; moved to Winnipeg 1906 and became manager for Davidson and McRae;
director of many companies, including Carrot River Valley Land Company, Columbia River
Lumber Company, Port Arthur Insurance and Vessel Co.
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Davidson, Col. Andrew Duncan (from Glencoe, Ont., married to Ella McRae), moved to
Wisconsin as a young man, where he was involved in real estate and railway development;
director Saskatchewan Valley Land Co., and Saskatchewan Valley and Manitoba Land Co.;

later went into lumber: Canada Western Lumber Co., Columbia River Lumber Co., affiliated
with Sifton's British Empire Agency, Ltd.; with A.D. McRae, worked for Canadian Northern
Railway in land sales, including town sites; requested Kylemore townsite (Fishing Lake) in 1904;
director of Canadian Northern Prairie Lands Co., with D.B. Hanna and Hugh Sutherland (Sifton
also an investor in this company).

Davin, Nicholas Flood, journalist; Conservative Member of Parliament from West Assiniboia
1887-1900.

Davis, T.O., Liberal Member of Parliament for Saskatchewan, 1896-1904; appointed to Senate
1904; primary contact for patronage appointments; involved in Chacastapaysin surrender;
arranged for Hungarian settlers to buy the reserve in 1899; realtor and merchant, store at Duck
Lake; key contact for Sifton for patronage; asked Sifton in 1909 to get Oliver to reduce ground
rent for timber from $10 to $5 (NA, Sifton Papers, MG 27, vol. 297). In early 1898 there was a
debate at headquarters about whether Davis's name should be on the patronage list while he was
an MP (NA, RG 10, vol. 1121, McLean to Sifton January 14, 1898.

Day, Joseph Peter George, appointed Agent at Battleford Agency 1901; from Quebec, but
living locally at time of appointment; had been livestock dealer in Battleford area; active Liberal;
dismissed 1912 for involvement in 1911 election; took surrenders at Grizzly Bear's Head/Lean
Man, Thunderchild, Moosomin, and took charge of these land auctions; negotiated Thunderchild
surrender 1908; negotiated Moosomin surrender 1909; censured by Department for not getting
Moosomin's agreement when the Thunderchild surrender was taken.

(May have been related to John Frederick Day, who also worked for Indian Affairs).

Day, Mary J. (married to Agent George Day), bought land at the 1906 auction of Grizzly Bear's
Head/Lean Man lands.

de Balinhard, William Carnegie, former Army officer from England, Protestant; entered Indian
service in 1885, age 48; Agent at Sarcee before transfer to Edmonton; took Passpasschase
surrender.

de Cazes, Charles (born in France, died 1898 on the job), appointed Agent 1890; may have been
related to Paul de Cazes, a pre-Confederation parliamentarian, born in France, and a wealthy land
owner; disliked by Oliver, who tried twice to get him removed from office, and brought
allegations of mismanagement; brought charged\s against two Indians for assault 1898 (NA, RG
10, vol. 1121); Conservative?; investor with A.A.C. LaRiviére in Canadian Colonization
Company Ltd., in 1882, while a resident of Winnipeg; according to Oliver, was a personal friend
of A.E. Forget; took Sharphead surrender.
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Diehl, C.E., physician, Valley Junction, lowa; involved with A.S. Porter of Minneapolis in
Moose Mountain deal to sell lands acquired from Bedford-Jones.

Delmas, Father, Oblate priest serving Indians in the Battleford area; pushed and assisted in
Thunderchild surrender 1908; assisted in Moosomin surrender 1909: interpreting (with Ralph
Pritchard).

Deville, Edouard G.D., Surveyor General of Canada 1885-1924.

Dewdney, Edgar (born in England 1835); Conservative; began career as surveyor, in British
Columbia; elected to BC Legislature 1869; elected to House of Commons 1872; Indian
Commissioner 1879; also Lieutenant Governor NWT 1881; Minister of Interior 1888; Lieutenant
Governor of BC 1892-97.

Land owner in Saskatchewan; director Qu'Appelle, Long Lake and Saskatchewan
Railway 1885; sold shares 1888; acquired land in Indian Head through Qu'Appelle Valley Farm
Co.

Douglas, James McCrie, executive of Edmonton Liberal Association; Liberal Member of
Parliament for Edmonton 1909-21; associate of Oliver; general merchandise business; member
City Council for Strathcona.

Douglas, James Moffat, Member of Parliament for East Assiniboia, 1896-1904; associate of
Sifton and Matthew Millar.

Douglas, Walter D., from Cedar Rapids, lowa; president of Quaker Oats; director,
Saskatchewan Valley Land Co.

Dowswell, James, Emerson, Manitoba; auctioneer Roseau River land 1903.
Dowswell, John, Lynedoch, Ont.; bought land at tender, Michel 1904.

Dwyer, Patrick Owen, bought land at Alexander sale 1906; listed as gentleman, address Alberta
Hotel, Edmonton.

Edwards, Oliver C., physician, Regina; brother of W.C. Edwards, MP, of Russell, Manitoba;
Liberal; appointed medical attendant, Muscowpetung and Assiniboine Agencies, 1897, as well as
medical attendance to industrial school. Smart wrote to him by private letter August 21, 1897,
regarding his "proposed appointment" as medical attendant, and asking him to contact Forget to
make the recommendation. By August 26 Smart was already responding to Forget's
recommendation of August 20 with notice that the matter had already gone to the Deputy
Minister (NA, RG 10, vol. 1121). According to this correspondence, he also had a small contract
with Department of Justice.

Appointment questioned in the House of Commons 1898 by N.F. Davin, Conservative;
appointed medical attendant for Treaty 8 Commission 1900; recommended Mr Gooderham to
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Smart to take Swinford's place at Touchwood 1897, suggestion not taken (NA, RG 10, vol.1121);
appointed medical officer for Blood and Peigan Agencies 1901.

Farhni, Christopher, Gladstone, Manitoba; speculator in land; purchased lands in 1906 Michel
auction, which were cancelled, reinstated, and then acquired by J.J. Anderson, Frank Oliver's
son-in-law.

Ferguson, A.D., druggist, Wolseley; given Assiniboine Agency patronage 1899.

Finger, Herman, Port Arthur, Ont.; bought land at Kahkewistahaw, Cote, and The Pas; became
mayor of The Pas; partner in purchase with William McBrady and Archibald McGillis; president
Finger Lumber Company, The Pas. According to a letter from T.O. Davis on September 16,
1909, he was in correspondence with Douglas Cameron regarding timber limits; Cameron was
partner of Sifton (NA, Sifton Papers, MG 27, vol. 297).

Fischer, Fred (born 1858, Toronto), Agent at The Pas Agency; witness to 1906 surrender; clerk
at Pelly 1904; assisted Carruthers at Cote surrender.

Forget, Amadeus Emmanuel (born 1847 in Quebec), clerk of NWT Council 1876-88; assistant
Indian Commissioner 1888-95; Indian Commissioner October 1895 to 1898; promoted
Lieutenant Governor 1898; assisted in Sharphead surrender; hired Col. Allan McDonald as his
special agent 1898; bought land at Pasqua land sales.

Frank, William, real estate agent, McArthur Building, Winnipeg; bought largest block at
Key/Keeseekoose sales; also acquired land at St Peters; Liberal supporter; political associate of
Sifton.

Fraser, A.C., Brandon businessman: A. C. Fraser and Co, dry goods; succeeded Sifton as
member of provincial legislature for North Brandon; co-investor with Sifton, Smart, and White
in Brandon Sun Printing and Publishing Co.; Liberal; urged Sifton on November 26, 1906, to re-
enter Cabinet (NA, MG 27, II D 15, vol. 296).

Fraser, A.J., appointed Dominion Lands Agent for Lethbridge 1900.

Fraser, Angus W., member of Perkins, Fraser, and Burbidge; associate of Sifton; acquired land
grant of Saskatchewan and Western Railway in Manitoba in 1904, via "Saskatchewan Valley and
Manitoba Railway," and then sold it to Saskatchewan Valley and Manitoba Land Co. (see Land
and Colonization companies); shareholder in Sask. Valley and Manitoba Land Co. 1907;
received notice of Crooked Lakes land sale 1908.

Gallinger, Claude, Crafts and Lee Land and Business Exchange (also known as Alberta Land
Company, with branch in Wahpeton, North Dakota); offered to buy unsold Michel 1904 lands in
1905; Oliver nearly sold them.
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Gibbons, James (born Ireland), had lived in United States as mercenary Indian fighter,
bootlegger, miner; became liquor merchant in Edmonton; president of Edmonton Liberal
Association at time of appointment as Agent in Edmonton Agency 1898; appointed at Oliver's
insistence; friend of merchant John A. McDougall; took Enoch 1902 surrender; took Michel
1903 surrender; involved in Alexander 1905 surrender; tried to take the 1906 surrender.

Ginn, John C., farming instructor at Roseau River 1898-c. 1910; assisted in collecting payments
in arrears; employed there at the time of the surrender. He had been brought in by Inspector
Marlatt to assist with clerical work, since farming instructor was illiterate; in Roseau River
Agency, the Indians were expected to pay for the instructors out of produce sales, a practice
Marlatt protested when he overcommitted salary funds to Ginn in 1899; he asked Sifton to pick
up part of salary (NA, MR27, Sifton papers II D 15, C489, Marlatt correspondence).

Gooderham, John Hamilton (born 1857 in Ontario), first appointed farming instructor 1879;
farming instructor Muscowpetung; clerk Touchwood Agencies 1900 (Walter Scott, Liberal MP,
unsuccessfully intervened in 1900 to try to get his salary increased: NA, RG 10, vol. 3772, file
34984); Indian Agent, Peigan, late 1903; transferred to Blackfoot Agency 1907; assisted in taking
1910 Blackfoot surrender; briefly suspended 1914, suspected of partisan political activities.

Gooderham, George Hamilton (born 1889 on Poorman's reserve, Saskatchewan, son of John
Hamilton), Indian Agent, Blackfoot, 1920, on death of his father.

Gordon, John, trader, The Pas Agency. When Pedley authorized surrender, 1906, he specified
that Gordon's land should be exempted; in the terms of The Pas surrender, he is authorized to
purchase surrendered land.

Gordon, Ironsides, and Fares, established by James T. Gordon, who moved from Ontario to
Manitoba in 1879 and formed Lumber, Cattle and Wheat export business in 1893 (took on its
present name in 1902); branches in most western centre; world’s largest cattle exporters in 1906;
involved as partners in McEwan/Ryan lease of Blood reserve.

Graham, William, merchant at Morley; Liberal; friend of the Rev. John McDougall; supplied
beef to Department at turn of century.

Graham, William Morris (born 1867 in Ottawa, son of James Fleming Graham), his father was
Superintendent for Manitoba; clerk at Birtle; in Office of the Indian Commissioner in 1885;
warehouse clerk in Regina; promoted Agent for File Hills in reorganization of 1897; File Hills
amalgamated with Muscowpetung Agency in 1901 and became Qu'Appelle Agency; Inspector
for Southern Saskatchewan Agencies February 1904; Indian Commissioner based in Regina
1918; retired 1932 .

Grain, O.1L., physician, Selkirk; coroner for Manitoba; Conservative; brought into St Peter's
surrender discussion by Hector Howell.
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Grant, Frederick W., Lawyer, Liberal, and businessman of Midland, Ont.; in partnership with
brother, George D. Grant, MP 1903-08, who may have used influence with Sifton to assist F.W.
in buying Indian lands in Georgian Bay in 1905 at a very low price; bought land at Alexander,
Michel, Samson/Bobtail, and Moosomin/Thunderchild; occasional partner of William Preston,
who had business with J. Playfair and also acquired land at Samson/Louis Bull/Bobtail sales;
associate of Sir William Mulock, businessman, who shows up regularly in Sifton papers, and
who acted as Minister of Interior for Sifton in 1903; close associate of Midland lumber merchant
and Liberal MP Manley Chew, who was seeking rights to cut timber off Beckwith Island as early
as 1896 and who may have gotten licence without surrender (NA, RG 10, vol. 1118) ( George
Chew, brother of Manley, had audience with Sifton November 1903); also seems to have had
affiliation with J.R. Miller of Toronto: had information sent c¢/o Miller, according to Roland
Wright, personal communication; received notice for most land sales; March 1906: McLean sent
plan and descriptions of lands for Alexander, and promised Pasqua descriptions (NA, RG 10,
vol. 1127).

Grant, William S. (born in Ireland 1845), appointed Indian Agent 1884, to Assiniboine Agency;
replaced by Aspdin 1901; transferred to Hobbema; went back to Assiniboine Agency when
Aspdin died, 1906.

Greenshields, J.N. (born 1853), barrister, Chief counsel for Louis Riel; investor; Liberal;
associated with David Russell, Saskatoon and Western Land Co.

Griffin, Frederick T., Land Commissioner for CPR 1900, replacing L. A. Hamilton.

Halcrow, Gideon, manager of HBC store, The Pas; served as justice of peace at The Pas 1906
surrender affidavit; authorized to buy surrendered land by terms of the surrender.

Halpin, Herbert Ross (born in Ireland 1854); came to Fort Garry in 1872, employed by HBC;
clerk in Calton and Pelly Agencies; clerk, Moose Mountain Agency 1895; farmer-in-charge,
Moose Mountain, 1897; his brother Charles of the Liberal Printing Co. of Portage lobbied Sifton
to keep him employed in the reorganization, with J.G. Rutherford; chastised for misconduct
September 1900 (NA, RG 10, vol. 114; McLean to Laird); discharged 1901.

Halsey, Nicoll, from Chicago, Ill.; vice-president, Western Canada Colonization Co.; major
speculator at Crooked Lakes auction 1908.

Hanna, David Blythe, came to Canada from Scotland 1882; employed by Manitoba and North
Western Railways; first superintendent of Lake Manitoba Railway and Canal Co.; chief operational
officer of the new Canadian Northern Railways; vice-president Canadian Northern Prairie Land
Co., from 1904; investor in Qu'Appelle, Long Lake and Saskatchewan Railways and the
Saskatchewan Valley and Manitoba Land Co. and affiliates; president CNOR 1918, on resignation
of Mackenzie and Mann.
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Haslam, J. Heber, land speculator based on Jackson Street, Minneapolis, who bought and sold
CPR land after 1901, primarily in Assiniboia south of Weyburn.

Hastings, George, grain merchant, Winnipeg; acquired land from Carry the Kettle.

Hathaway, George, merchant from Chicago; bought land from D.H. Hudson in 1911, Fishing
Lake surrenders (with M. McKinnon).

Heap, Frederick, lawyer, Selkirk, with his father, James; articled with Macdonald, Tupper,
Phippen, and Tupper, the firm that apparently handled Sifton's land interests; some business
partnerships with J.O. Lewis, publisher and Indian Agent at St Peters, including real estate; scrip
dealer.

Herron, John (married Ida Lake), rancher, Pincher Creek, Alberta; elected to House of
Commons 1904, 1908; Conservative.

Hewitt, John T., lawyer, from Brantford, Ont.; bought land at Key/Keeseekoose, and
Cumberland IR 100A. (There was also a Reverend W.J. Hewitt, Methodist, who tried to get the
position of Inspector, Calgary, 1886.)

Horne-Payne, R.M., major investor in British Empire Trust Co. (see Appendix D on Sifton
investments); sold Canadian Northern Railway bonds in London, c. 1902.

Howard, John, from Winnipeg; offered to buy the Roseau River reserve and colonize it, in
1901.

Howe, George, father-in-law of A.D. McRae of Davidson and McRae, Minneapolis; investor in
timber berths with D.C. Cameron 1907 (associated with Sifton), and also in Saskatchewan
Valley and Manitoba Land Co. (NA, Sifton Papers, MG 27, I D 15, vol. 296).

Howell, Hector, Liberal, Winnipeg lawyer and organizer; once part of Howell, Hudson,
Ormond, and Marlatt [Fishing Lake]; also Archibald, Howell and Cumberland; headed
Commission appointed by Sifton November 1906 to look into St Peter's land claims; Chief
Justice, Manitoba Court of Appeals, 1906.

Hudson, D.H., paper merchant, Winnipeg; bought most of Fishing Lake surrendered land, 1910;
possibly related to the Hudsons in firm Hudson Ormond and Marlatt, who were involved in the
transactions.

Hugonard, Father J., Oblate priest, Qu'Appelle; principal of Qu'Appelle Industrial School from
1884; Sifton investigated some charges against him 1900, issues unknown; witness to

Muscowpetung and Pasqua surrenders.

Hunter, Thomas, auctioneer, from Regina, at the Muscowpetung sales.
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Jackson, Samuel, Inspector for Lake Winnipeg, 1902-04; Liberal; wife was Sifton's first cousin;
farmer; pushed Sifton for government appointment; elected Liberal Member of Parliament for
Selkirk 1904; appointed to Lake Manitoba Inspectorate 1909.

Jackson, Thomas Wesley, Dominion lands agent/immigration agent for Qu'Appelle, c. 1882;
Elected Member of Parliament for Qu'Appelle, 1896; president of Wood Mountain and
Qu'Appelle Railway, 1886, with ex-HBC Factor Archibald McDonald; director Qu'Appelle and
Long Lake Land Co.

Johnson, C.J., clerk, Battleford Agency, assisted in Moosomin surrender.

Jones, W.E., clerk in Regina departmental office; first Agent in Pelly 1888; transferred to
Carlton 1900, on advice of Agent Markle at Birtle and Liberal merchant E.A.W.R. McKenzie.
He may be the same W.E. Jones hired by Qu'Appelle and Long Lake Land Co. to report on the
company's lands to prospective immigrants, Winnipeg, c. 1882.

Jowett, John William (born in England), appointed clerk in Regina Commissioner's Office
1886; contemporary there of A.E. Lake, Henry Carruthers, William Graham, James J. Campbell;
clerk at the Blackfoot sale 1911, while acting as Agency clerk there; clerk at Crooked Lakes
Agency 1897, at Blood Agency 1903.

Kane, ML.J. , head Kane Land Co., Battleford; made repeated offers for land at Grizzly Bear's
Head/Lean Man.

Kenaston, F.E., head of Minneapolis Threshing Machine Company; had been involved in a
syndicate to sell Northern Pacific lands in the United States; director Saskatchewan Valley Land
Company, and Saskatchewan Valley and Manitoba Land Co.

Kenning, W. A., realtor and financial broker, Winnipeg; bought land 1909 at
Moosomin/Thunderchild sales, with George Stewart; bought land 1908 at Crooked Lakes, in
association with Thomas D'Arcy McGee, W. J. Kenning of Guelph, George Henry Stewart of
Winnipeg (Stobart Sons and Co.).

Key, Chief , Chief of Key Band at 1909 surrender.

Kirby, Augustus, bought land at Muscowpetung 1909; had addresses in Dallas (Texas Mouline
Plow Co.) and Winnipeg/Regina (Canadian Mouline Plow Co.); lawyer. (Could he have been
related to Lafayette O. Kirby, of Hibbing, Minnesota, a band manager who had stock in the Quill
Plains Land Co. in 1909?)

Kitchemonia , signed affidavit for the Keeseekoose surrender 1909.
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Lafferty, James Delamere, physician in Calgary; bought land at Peigan sale, some with George
Ross, lawyer; Liberal, associate of Oliver; appointed by Oliver as medical attendant for the
southern Alberta reserves while maintaining private practice; appointment attacked in House of
Commons by Conservative W.J. Roche February 12, 1909, as based on Liberal favouritism.

Laird, David (born 1833 in PEI, son of Alexander Laird and Janet Orr, died January 1914),
Liberal; Minister of Interior and Superintendent General of Indian Affairs 1873-76; negotiator
Treaty 4; Lieutenant Governor NWT 1876-81; negotiated Treaty 7 1877; Indian Commissioner
1898-1909; special adviser to DSGIA in Ottawa 1909-14; took Ocean Man and Pheasant Rump
surrenders 1901; tried to persuade Roseau River to surrender land 1902; advised caution in
Michel surrender ; resisted Crooked Lakes surrender on economic grounds; resisted asking for
Swan Lake surrender 1902, on the basis that land prices would be higher later; advised caution
on Alexander surrender; by-passed by McKenna on The Pas right of way/station grounds issue,
but assisted Marlatt in setting terms for surrender of town site; pushed Muscowpetung and
Pasqua surrenders; took Cote 1905 surrender; left out of discussions about St Peter's surrender
1907; advocated against a surrender of Bobtail reserve in 1901; advised against pushing
Moosomin/Thunderchild bands for total surrender of reserves 1906; took 1908 Thunderchild
surrender.

Laird, D.H., lawyer, Winnipeg; with Munson and Allan, solicitors for Canadian Northern
Railway, c. 1905; relation of David Laird, possibly son.

Laird, F. H., resident Dresden, Ont.; bought land by tender at Michel 1904, with brother T.E.
Laird; a relative, C.T. Laird, lived at Spruce Grove, near surrendered land.

Laird, Harold (son of David Laird), clerk at Lesser Slave Lake 1910.

Lake, Arthur Edward (born Manchester, England, 1861), clerk in Regina 1886; transferred to
Edmonton 1891; clerk at Edmonton Agency until 1900; acting Agent after death of de Cazes;
applied for job, but lost it to political patronage appointment; probably brother of Richard S.
Lake.

Lake, Richard S. (born Preston, England, 1860), farmer, Grenfell; Conservative Member of
Parliament from Qu’Appelle elected 1904, 1908; member of Territorial Legislature 1898-1904;
attacked Oliver's policies in the House of Commons; part of Territorial Grain Growers'
Association: pushed for surrender at Pasqua and other nearby reserves.

Lamont, John Henderson, barrister Regina; judge Supreme Court of Saskatchewan; once
practised in Prince Albert, crown prosecutor ¢. 1907; Liberal member of NWT Legislature at one
time; elected Member of Parliament 1904; resigned 1905 to serve in provincial government as
Attorney General for Saskatchewan 1905-07; bought land at Moosomin/Thunderchild sales;
acquired land from Chacastapaysin sales; solicitor 1905 for Canadian Prairie Lands Co., in which
Sifton was an investor; apparently known to T.O. Davis and Sifton.
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Lamont, Joseph L., living in Whitewood 1902, signed petition urging Crooked Lakes surrender;
auctioneer at 1908 Crooked Lakes auction.

LaRiviére, A.A.C., Conservative Member of Parliament for Provencher; lobbied for surrender of
Roseau River reserve; had worked in a Dominion Lands Office before holding office; investor in
Canadian Colonization Co. Ltd. 1882, with Charles de Cazes, who was later Indian Agent at
Edmonton; Immigration Commissioner for Manitoba 1905.

Lash, John Bean (born Newfoundland 1847, died 1906), appointed clerk at McLeod 1883;
Agent at Duck Lake 1885; subsequently Agent at Muscowpetung; subject of complaints by
Indians; ex-police constable; cousin of lawyer and financier Zebulon A. Lash, who provided
sureties; became secretary to Laird, new Commissioner, in Winnipeg September 1898 at Forget's
suggestion; assessed value of Moose Mountain reserves 1901; discussed the Crooked Lakes
surrenders with bands 1904; spent several weeks in summer 1905 with Z.A. Lash (NA, RG 10,
vol. 3726, file 24888); met with Nut Lake and Fishing Lake 1905, along with McDougall, to
discuss a surrender; helped negotiate Fishing Lake surrender.

Lash, Miller (son of Z.A. Lash), barrister; vice-president of CBIC; director National Trust Co.,
British American Land Co., York Land Co.; practised with Blake, Lash, Anglin, and Cassels.

Lash, Zebulon A. (born Newfoundland 1846), lawyer ; Deputy Minister of Justice 1872-76;
partner in Blake, Anglin, Lash, and Cassels (Edward Blake was a Liberal and a former Minister
of Justice); director of many companies; chief solicitor Canadian Northern Railway from 1902;
extensive investments, including the Mackenzie/Mann empire; acquired control (with Osler,
Hammond and Nanton, and D. Mclnnes) of Qu'Appelle, Long Lake and Saskatchewan Railroad
1906.

Leckey, Thomas, employee of Champagne, Speers, and Simpson in Battleford; auctioneer at
1908 Grizzly Bear's Head/Lean Man sale; auctioneer at 1909 Moosomin/Thunderchild sale;
auctioneer at 1910 Swan Lake/Tramping Lake sale.

Lewis, James O., Agent at Clandeboye, assisted in taking St Peter's surrender; former editor of

Selkirk Journal; owner and editor of Selkirk Expositor; realtor; principal Liberal organizer,
Selkirk, 1896, 1900, 1904.

Logan, Robert (born Paris, Ont., 1853), replaced S. Swinford as Agent Portage la Prairie
Agency 1905; Agent for Roseau River 1909, began to collect payments in arrears; Agent at Swan
Lake and witnessed 1908 surrender; collected payments at Swan Lake; issue raised in House of
Commons early 1909 that Logan sold livestock to the Department in 1908, making a personal
profit; discharged 1915.

Magrath, Charles Alexander, topographical surveyor; from Ontario, came to North-West 1880;
Conservative member of Legislative Assembly for NWT; elected Member of Parliament for
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Medicine Hat 1908; land agent Alberta Railway and Coal Co.; manager Canada North West
Irrigation Co.

Mann, George Gwynne (born 1843 at Bowmanville, Ont.), Agent at Onion Lake 1886,
replacing Quinn; then to Saddle Lake, then Hobbema Agency 1906; took the Samson's and
Bobtail's surrenders, with the Reverend John McDougall.

Markle, John A. (born 1851), from Waterloo, Ont.; acting Agent at Birtle 1883; appointed
Agent 1886; applied for office of Superintendent of Indian Agencies for Manitoba 1895.

John Thunder of Pipestone Sioux wrote in March 1900 asking if Markle was to be
transferred away; gave glowing recommendation about Markle as Agent and individual; was told
there were no plans to move him. Markle was transferred out in July 1900 (NA, RG 10, vol.
3746, file 29628-1).

Agent at Blackfoot 1900; promoted Inspector of Indian Agencies for Calgary 1904;
Alexander 1905 surrender; Michel 1906 surrender; Peigan 1909 surrender; Blackfoot/Siksika
1910 surrender.

Sifton was in contact with an M.C. Markle in Shoal Lake, Manitoba, in 1903 on Liberal
party matters; was M.C. Markle a relative?

Marlatt, E.W., solicitor with Hudson, Ormond, and Marlatt, Winnipeg; handled purchases of
D.H. Hudson at Fishing Lake.

Marlatt, Samuel Reid (born c. 1853 near Oakville, Ont.), Liberal businessman, from Portage la
Prairie where he was active in civic politics; appointed to civil service 1897; sureties by Robert
Watson, MP for Yorkton, and John Gunion Rutherford, MP (See Rutherford); Inspector of Lake
Manitoba Inspectorate 1897; inspectorate enlarged to include Birtle Agency 1902; took Roseau
River 1903 surrender; took The Pas townsite surrender 1906, after recommending against it;
received mail ¢/o North West Fish Company, which was named in The Pas surrender as
authorized purchaser; had preliminary meetings with the Indians at Swan Lake on the taking of a
surrender; resigned April 1907.

Marsh, George Terry, first employed as Winnipeg real estate agent; agent for Qu'Appelle and
Long Lake Land Co., Winnipeg 1882, Regina 1886, with Gilbert Pugsley; agent and attorney for
Land Corporation of Canada after 1900.

Marsh, George W., lawyer with Marsh and Marsh, Toronto; one of the three lawyers who
submitted tenders from Toronto for Moose Mountain lands 1901.

Martineau, H., Agent at Portage la Prairie 1898; Liberal; French Canadian; Forget's choice of
agent at Edmonton 1898; was not appointed.
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Masten, C.A., lawyer with Masten, Warren, Starr and Spence, Toronto; Clifford Sifton's lawyer,
turn of the century; co-investor in business (e.g. Canadian Investment and Brokerage Co.);
director of Manitoba Free Press c. 1898.

Matheson, J.R., applied for work at an industrial school? (NA, RG 0, vol. 1118); appears to
have worked subsequently (1896) at the Battleford school.

Matheson, Dr John Sutherland (brother of R.M. Matheson), Brandon merchant; bought land at
Carry the Kettle.

Matheson, R.M., Brandon solicitor; arranged 1897 to display Indians at Exhibition, but turned
down by J.A. Markle, Agent at Birtle (NA, RG 10, vol. 1120, letter from Smart to Matheson,
July 14, 1897); shareholder in Brandon Fire Insurance Co.; shareholder with Sifton in Canadian
Guaranty Trust Co.; investor in bookstore Warner's, Ltd; frequent correspondent of Sifton.

Matheson, W., from Brandon; Brandon Machine Works; recommended by Sifton to Public
Works for patronage business December 4, 1897 (NA, Sifton Papers, MG 27, letter book July 14,
1897-Dec. 1, 1898).

Matheson, William A., grain dealer from Winnipeg; bought land at Carry the Kettle .

Maxwell, Joseph, farmer, from New Rockford, North Dakota; extensive purchases at Peigan
land sale 1909.

McArthur, James, from Prince Albert; on Liberal patronage list for Department 1898 (NA, RG
10, vol. 1122); became Agent at Carlton, based in Prince Albert, before 1903, when he was
transferred to Duck Lake.

McArthur, Xavier James, interpreter for the Pheasant's Rump/Ocean Man surrender meetings
1901; his version of the meetings differed substantially from Commissioner Laird's.

McBrady, William, barrister from Port Arthur, Ont.; partner in land purchase Cote and
Kahkewistahaw with Herman Finger.

McColl, Ebeneezer, Inspector of Indian Agencies, Manitoba, until his death 1902 (?)

McCraney, George E., barrister, Prince Albert and Rosthern; Liberal Member of Parliament for
Saskatoon 1906, 1908, 1911; lawyer for A.J. Adamson; pushed for Moosomin/Thunderchild
surrenders; received notice of sale for Grizzly Bear's Head/Lean Man reserves ; director Western
Trust Company, with Adamson, D.H. McDonald, Turiff, and Ross.

McDonald, Colonel Allan, former colonel in the militia and HBC employee; Agent for Treaty 4
(1877) and then Crooked Lakes; advocated against Crooked Lakes surrenders 1885-86, 1891 on
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economic grounds; retired 1897; kept in Forget's office as special agent; investigated personnel
matters, such as that of Charles de Cazes in Edmonton Agency; had Hayter Reed help get his son
a job with CPR 1896 (NA, RG 10, vol. 1118).

McDonald, Allen H., bought land at tender Michel 1904 with Andrew McDonald and the Laird
brothers of Dresden, Ont.

McDonald, D.D., Anglican clergyman, Battleford; involved in Thunderchild and Moosomin
surrenders.

McDonald, Donald Hogarth (brother of John Archibald McDonald), merchant and realtor Fort
Qu’Appelle; sold land to W.M. Graham; director, Western Trust Co.; member NWT legislature
1896-1902; also had Winnipeg address; Liberal; expressed interest in land at Pasqua; director of
Saskatchewan Valley Land Co., Saskatchewan Valley and Manitoba Land Co. ; close personal
and business associate of James A. Smart, involved in plan to place Jewish Romanian colonists
near Balcarres, 1901, in which McDonald benefited from contract to supply the colonists.

McDonald, John Archibald (brother of D.H. McDonald), banker, Fort Qu’Appelle; bought land
at Muscowpetung 1909, and then sold it; elected to Saskatchewan legislature for North
Qu'Appelle.

McDougall, John, Methodist missionary at Morley, Alberta; son of missionary George
McDougall who (established mission at Morley 1873); did advance work to inform Indians of
pending Treaty 7 negotiations; as early as 1896 was informing Hayter Reed about employee
issues in Alberta (NA, RG 10, vol. 1118, Reed to Forget, April 9, 1896); used by Reed as Agent;
also connected to Blake, Anglin, Lash and Cassels firm (see NA, RG 10, vol. 1120, Scott to
Harvey, February 6, 1897); according to question raised in House in 1906, he acted as special
delegate to Great Britain for three months in relation to immigration; also investigated
Doukhobor land claims; took the Bobtail and Samson surrenders 1909; hired by the Department
to investigate personnel issues in Alberta; hired by Oliver in 1905 to negotiate surrenders on
Prairies: Blood, Stonies, and Sarcee in Alberta; Cote, Fishing Lake, Montreal Lake in
Saskatchewan, and Swan Lake in Manitoba; negotiated at Fishing Lake, Cote 1905, Swan Lake;
on behalf of Oliver investigated complaints at St Peter's 1910; found no dissatisfaction, according
to his report.

McDougall, John A., merchant in Edmonton; friend of Frank Oliver, Liberal; purchased land by
tender Stony Plain; dealt in Métis scrip; with partner Secord secured contract for Treaty 8 party
supplies; investor in Edmonton Bulletin.

McDougall, S., and McDougall, A.L., contractors from Fort William, Ont., O'Brien, Fowler,
and McDougall Brothers; purchasers at Muscowpetung 1909 sale.

A.L. McDougall was a civil engineer at Ottawa, and acquired land at Crooked Lakes.
There is also an A. McDougall of Percy, Assiniboia, who bid unsuccessfully on land at Ocean
Man/Pheasant's Rump.
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McGee, Thomas D'Arcy, may have been miller employed by Indian Affairs in Onion Lake and
Saddle Lake Agencies; transferred to Edmonton Agency 1900; Frank Oliver wrote in 1899 to get
an increase of salary for him, which was approved (NA, RG 10, vol. 1122); in 1900 was
recommended by Lord Bishop Legal at St. Albert for Agent position at Onion Lake (NA, Sifton
Papers, MG 27, January 4, 1901; letter book April 3, 1900- May 6, 1901); Clerk Carruthers
accused him 1900 of trying to get him fired; bought land at Moosomin/Thunderchild sales 1909;
bought land on behalf of Thomas Ryan Brothers, Winnipeg (boots and shoes); at Crooked Lakes
sales 1908; associated with W.A. Kenning.

McGibbon, Alexander, merchant from Montreal; Conservative; given the Qu'Appelle
Inspectorate 1897, but was inspector for Saskatchewan before that; given the Calgary
Inspectorate when Wadsworth left in 1902; died 1904.

McGirr, William, hired as clerk at Headquarters 1883; became a private secretary 1891; became
part of Inside Servicel893; sent to investigate land dispute at St Peter's 1896.

Mclver, John, wrote from Indian Agent's office at “Mclver, P.O.” in April 1909 inquiring about
a number of land sales, requested prices from Secretary McLean, and a package of information
was sent to him; bought land at Cape Crocker in Ontario; may have been the Agent listed for the
Cape Crocker Indians 1900.

McKenna, J.A. J., journalism background; appointed to Indian Affairs 1887, clerk to J.A.
Macdonald when latter was Superintendent General; became private secretary to Minister
Clifford Sifton 1897; Commissioner for Treaty 8 in 1899; appointed to HalfBreed Commission
March 1901, criticized for taking incomplete evidence, for hurrying claims, and for encouraging
scrip speculators like Alloway by giving them information; became Assistant Indian
Commissioner 1901; active in taking surrenders while Assistant (particularly supportive of
railway development); supported and recommended Enoch surrender; supported and
recommended Ocean Man and Pheasant Rump surrenders; supported and recommended the
Alexander surrender 1905; Supported and recommended Grizzly Bear's Head/Lean Man
surrender 1905; involved in Fishing Lake surrender 1907; involved in discussing Crooked Lakes
surrenders 1902-04 and advised caution; negotiated primary terms for Cote townsite surrender
1904; present at Cote surrender 1904; was liaison between CNOR and The Pas over right of way
and townsite surrender 1905-06; while acting as Sifton's secretary, April 1900, wrote to William
Graham at Qu'Appelle Agency re his upcoming visit to the Agency, following the winding up of
"my business" in Qu'Appelle. McKenna took his son on the trip. (NA, Sifton Papers, MG 27,
April 24, 1900, letter book of April 3, 1900 to May 6, 1901).

McKenzie, Ernest C., barrister, Toronto; one of the three Toronto lawyers who bid on Moose
Mountain lands.
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McKenzie, E.A.W.R. (Born in Pelly area), merchant, Yorkton; Liberal patron; complained about
Agent Jones at Pelly, wrote to Sifton in 1899 (NA, RG 10, vol. 1123); complained about land
sales at Cote 1908 under Graham; appointed Indian Agent at Pelly 1925.

McKenzie, R.S., Agent at Duck Lake, removed in 1900 for unpopularity; moved to Pelly
Agency.

McKinnon, John, lumber contractor operating out of Winnipeg.

McKinnon, Myron R., merchant from Chicago; with W.J. McKinnon bought the Fishing Lake
lands from D.H. Hudson 1911.

McKinnon, W.J. , bought the Fishing Lake lands from D.H. Hudson in 1911; lived in Quill
Lake and acted as general manager of Fishing Lake Farm and Land Co.

McLean, J.D. (born 1855 in New Brunswick), appointed to Interior Department in 1876 and
placed in charge of land sales; worked with Samuel Bray in surveys prior to that; became clerk in
charge of Lands and Timber 1887; Secretary, Department of Indian Affairs, appointed Chief
Clerk January 1897. He was responsible for fielding correspondence between the field and
Headquarters during this period, and he acted as Deputy when the DSGIA was away (empowered
to do so in early 1898).

McLean, James Keachie (born 1851 Galt, Ont., died 1913), entered Indian Department 1904 as
second- class clerk; transferred to the outside service 1905, worked under Samuel Bray (see NA,
RG 10, vol. 3084, file 276,020); inside service 1908; subdivided Alexander after 1905 surrender,
placed upset prices; subdivided Grizzly Bear's Head/Lean Man 1905, placed upset prices;
subdivided Carry the Kettle 1905, placed upset prices; subdivided Michel 1906, Samson and
Bobtail, Muscowpetung, Peigan. In the last three cases he also submitted lists of people to whom
notices of sale should be sent .

McLean, Simon J., political economist, University of Toronto; on recommendation of his 1902
report an independent regulatory body for railways created; as a result, became member of the
Board of Railway Commissioners 1908; bought land at Muscowpetung 1909, while on the
Board.

McNider, C.H., from Chicago and Mason City, lowa; major purchaser of Crooked Lakes lands
1908; associated with Nicoll Halsey and Western Canada Colonization Co. and North West Land
and Trust Co.

McCreary, William, Liberal; Mayor of Winnipeg; became Commissioner of Immigration under
Sifton; associate of Sifton. See St Peter's: he won election for Selkirk 1900 and sought surrender
of that reserve.
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McRae, Alexander D. (married to daughter of George Howe; sister married to A.D. Davidson),
originally from Glencoe, Ont., went into banking in United States; director of Canadian and
Western Lumber Company, Columbia River Lumber Co.; partner with A.D. Davidson in series
of companies: Saskatchewan Valley Land Co., Saskatchewan Valley and Manitoba Land Co.,
etc.; also partners to sell Canadian Northern Railway lands; moved from Duluth to Winnipeg,
and then to Vancouver 1907.

Mickle, C.J., lawyer, Birtle, Man., appears to have become judge later; received notice of
Blackfoot sale; associate of M.J. Markle of Shoal Lake; friend of Sifton, Liberal (NA, Sifton
Papers, MG 27, 11 D 15, vol. 296, letter November 28, 1906).

Millar, Matthew, merchant Moosomin area, Millar and Company, Hardware; Liberal; in
contact with Sifton 1903 regarding Liberal party matters; was contact person for East Assiniboia;
tried to get rights to purchase Moose Mountain reserves May 1901 (Tyler and Wright 1978b,
186-87; NA, Sifton Papers, MG 27, letter books 5 and 6).

Appointed Agent at Crooked Lakes March 1, 1905, to replace Magnus Begg; bought land
at Crooked Lakes sale, which he later tried to exchange for better land; released 1914 when he
failed to move onto reserve and take charge, did not make regular visits, and failed to help the
Indians advance. At this time the livestock industry at Crooked Lakes was deteriorating, and
Millar was not paying attention to matters (NA, RG 10, vol. 1129, memo from Scott, January 9,
1914).

Associated with F. Pinkess, chief organizer based in Moosomin, and with J.M. Douglas,
who was elected Member of Parliament 1900.

Miller, Joseph Robert (married to sister of Horatio Nichol), commercial traveller, businessman;
appears to have been investor with links to overseas trade; shared sales information with F.W.
Grant; used multiple addresses, at least five in Toronto; major purchaser at Alexander and
Pasqua sales.

Mista Jim, signed 1902 Enoch affidavit as Chief .

Mitchell, J.A. (born 1859, Montreal), entered service 1886; Agent at Muscowpetung when
surrenders discussed; previously secretary to Commissioner in Winnipeg, transferred to
Regina/Muscowpetung because of ill health 1899; got into difficulty for not using patronage list;
removed for political reasons 1901, then Agency amalgamated with File Hills under Graham.

Mitchell, Peter, hardware dealer from Brandon; worked for James Smart in his hardware
company in 1880s; bought land at Carry the Kettle sale; shareholder in Brandon Fire Insurance

Co. with R.M. Matheson.

Mitchell, Sam, farmer, Sintaluta; bought land at Carry the Kettle sale.
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Mitchell, William, hardware merchant, Souris, Manitoba, Curry and Mitchell; one of the men
who got involved in the protest against the sale of the Moose Mountain reserves to West and
Armstrong.

Mitchell, W.J., from Winnipeg(?); on patronage list, c. 1896, to supply medicines for reserves
and industrial schools near Winnipeg.

Moosomin, Josie, became Chief at Moosomin subsequent to the 1909 surrender.

Mulock, Sir William, friend of Sifton and of F.W. Grant; Member of Parliament for North
York 1882-1905; investor in Ontario and Qu'Appelle Land Co., 1882, one of 26 colonization
companies; Postmaster General 1905; first Minister of new Department of Labour; Liberal; Chief
Justice of Ontario 1923.

Murison, William (born 1879 Fergus, Ont.); living in Saskatchewan at time of appointment as
Interpreter, Moose Mountain 1893-97; farmer 1897; farmer-in-charge Moose Mountain 1902;
Liberal, a letter from a Mr Maguire of Arcola to Sifton July 2, 1901, recommended his
appointment as Agent because of his party activities (NA, Sifton Papers, MG 27, vol. 104);
promoted Agent at Moose Mountain 1903; transferred to Touchwood Hills March 1905 when H.
Martineau was suspended or resigned because of mismanagement of funds; Agent at Touchwood
when Fishing Lake surrender taken August 1907; Inspector of Indian Agencies in 1920.

Muscowpetung, Chief of Band at 1909 surrender.

Myers, Robert Hill, judge, Winnipeg; Liberal member of Manitoba Legislature 1892-1903;
appointed to bench 1903; wrote dissenting opinion on St Peter's, upheld validity of surrender.

Nanton, Augustus Meredith, financier with brokers Osler, Hammond and Nanton from 1884;
scrip dealer; Conservative; director of a number of companies, including Northern Trust Co.;
one-time president of Winnipeg Board of Trade; primary shareholder of Qu'Appelle, Long Lake
and Saskatchewan RR; 1906, along with Hammond and Osler; sold Qu'Appelle, Long Lake and
Saskatchewan company lands after 1908 for Canada Saskatchewan Land Company.

Napasis, Headman, Passpasschase; signed affidavit.

Nelson, John C., surveyor working for Department of Indian Affairs; subdivided Passpasschase
Reserve.

Newcombe, E.L., Deputy Minister of Justice.

Nichol, Horatio (born 1879, Montreal, married to sister of J.R. Miller’s wife), clerk at Morley
before 1905; transferred to Crooked Lakes June 1905; clerk at Crooked Lakes who witnessed the
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surrenders of early 1907; bought land at Pasqua 1906; became Agent at Muscowpetung 1909,
just after the surrender; resided in Balcarres, site of Inspector's office; resigned 1917.

O'Connor, P.J. , clerk at Headquarters; seems to have handled correspondence for both McLean
and Orr during this period and later; letter from Orr to Deputy Minister May 22, 1911, said that
O'Connor was in charge of western sales (NA, RG 10, vol. 3702, file 17537-3); handwriting
matched with upset prices on land descriptions in possession of F.W. Grant, according to
research done by R. Huber for Tyler and Wright.

Ogletree, Frances (born 1826), appointed to service 1877; Agent at Roseau River when demand
for surrender arose.

Oliver, Frank (born Frank Oliver Bowsfield [Oliver his middle name] 1853 in Ontario), moved
to Edmonton and began work as HBC trader in 1876, after having worked as printer in Toronto
and Winnipeg (Manitoba Free Press); started the Edmonton Bulletin and was its publisher until
1923; became leader of community of Edmonton, pushing for railway development, building
development, and squatters' rights; was first Member elected to NWT Council 1883 and served
until 1885; in NWT Legislative Assembly 1888-96; elected to House of Commons 1896 as
Liberal, exponent of western interests; became Minister of the Interior and Superintendent
General of Indian Affairs April 1905; alleged to have received payment from Canadian Northern
Railway in 1907 for allowing a land grant of 680,000 acres in Saskatchewan rather than in
Manitoba within the territory of the Manitoba and South Eastern Railway; allegation
investigated; member of Board of Railway Commissioners 1923-28; subsequently special adviser
to the Board of Railway Commissioners.

Oliver was known to be proponent of railway development, of settlers' and squatters'
rights; despised speculators; was also advocate of halfbreed scrip and assisted scrip speculators;
did not want immigrants from eastern Europe; did not was separate schools; attacked in the
Ferguson report for having taken Grand Trunk Pacific money for the Edmonton Bulletin; and for
acquiring Indian lands (Michel and Alexander) through his son-in-law. .

(See obituaries in Toronto Mail, April 1, 1933; Waddell 1950.)

Orr, William A. (born 1855 in Ontario, died 1921), joined Indian service 1883; had access to
most information about lands; head of Lands and Timber Branch.

Osler, Edmund Boyd (brother of Sir William and Hon. Featherstone Osler), financier; joined
Hammond and Nanton to form a law and stock broker firm based in Winnipeg, handled land
sales for CPR, and Qu'Appelle, Long Lake and Saskatchewan Railway, Calgary and Edmonton
firm; extensive investments, including the Canada Northwest Land Co., Manitoba and Northwest
Railway Co, Calgary and Edmonton Land Co., Qu'Appelle Long Lake, and Saskatchewan
Railway, Ontario and Qu'Appelle Land Co.; was a director of Calgary and Edmonton Railway,
and his firm handled sales for the land company; Conservative Member of Parliament for West
Toronto 1896-1916.
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Paget, Frederick Henry, clerk, Regina Office, 1885; assigned to Commissioner's Office,
Winnipeg, 1897; transferred 1897 to Ottawa, where he inspected accounts when they came in;
appointed chief clerk 1904; remained attached to Commissioner's Office until 1909

(Could he be related to E.A. Paget, farmer at Indian Head, who bought land at the
Crooked Lakes sales in 1908?)

Pedley, Frank (born 1858, Newfoundland, son of Congregationalist minister), spent part of
childhood in Cobourg, Ont., lawyer in Toronto, with A.C. Bedford-Jones 1894-97; president of
Toronto Young Men's Liberal Association, associate of Peter Ryan; appointed Superintendent of
Immigration 1897; Deputy Superintendent General of Indian Affairs November 21, 1902 to
October 24, 1913; resigned when report of Ferguson Commission came out (see World, October
13, 1913); took St Peter's surrender 1907; involved in Blood leasing scandal and in the purchase
of Moose Mountain and Chacastapaysin lands.

Philp, Albert E., business associate of Clifford Sifton and was his law partner in Brandon; after
Sifton left Brandon, was law partner of A.D. Cameron, then Kilgour; invested with Sifton and
Smart in Port Arthur real estate 1904; used Turiff to get information on timber licences on
reserves up for tender 1898 (NA, RG 10, vol. 1122, A.P. Collier to Philp, September 20, 1898);
co-investor with Sifton in Milk River Cattle Co. c. 1911, operating a ranch at Coutts, Alberta,
near the Montana border, just south of Blood reserve.

Phippen, F.H., lawyer with Macdonald (Hugh John), Tupper (Charles), Phippen and Tupper in
Winnipeg; may have represented some of Sifton's legal interests, according to a later partner,
Alexander Adams, himself a land speculator; worked for CNOR as solicitor; had other
business/law connections to Sifton over the years.

Piper, C.B., associated with Atlas Elevator Co. located in Winnipeg, Grain Exchange Building;
co-investor with John Bain and Sifton in Chehalis Lumber Co.

Piper, George F., from Minneapolis; director, Saskatchewan Valley Land Co. and Saskatchewan
Valley and Manitoba Land Co.

Pitcairn, W.D.. Realtor, insurance agent, auctioneer, Ponoka, Alberta; acted as sub-agent in sales
and collections, Sharphead sales.

Playfair, James, business associate and co-investor with F.W. Grant, at least in Alexander and
Michel purchases, may also have been in lumber business; received notice of Crooked Lakes
auction and many others; on regular mailing list maintained by McLean.

Ponton, A.W., began to work for Department of the Interior as surveyor in 1883, on appeal to
Minister Macpherson (NA, RG 15, vol. 289, file 5568); appointed 1896; objections made because
he was related to Hayter Reed by marriage (NA, RG 10, vol. 1119, September 1896); tended to
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be very pro-surrender; argued that excess of land for current population was good reason for
surrenders; moved to Ottawa 1898, after reorganization; resigned July 1903.

Porter, A.S., from Minneapolis, Porter Advertising Co.; acquired majority of Moose Mountain
lands from A.C. Bedford-Jones; worked with Eugene Case and C.E. Diehl; Assiniboine Land and
Investment Co. 1904-05; at Warmley, Sask., by 1906 working as farmer and realtor.

Porter, A.E. , from Nova Scotia; physician who worked for Department of Agriculture; applied
personally to Sifton for copper claim in Yukon 1899 (NA, Sifton Papers, MG 27, April 2, 1899,
C493, 50956).

Preston, William Edward, bought land with F.W. Grant; partners with James Playfair in lumber
business, Midland, according to land sales records .

There is a William Preston who is General Manager of Stratford Mill Building Co. who
wrote to Sifton in 1897 about Liberal and patronage issues. On March 18, 1897, he wrote to
congratulate Sifton on the election and on getting rid of H. Reed and A.M. Burgess in the
election (NA, Sifton Papers, MG 27, C465, 19512). Could this be the same person?

Pugsley, Gilbert (son of William), part of Qu'Appelle, Long Lake and Saskatchewan Land Co.
and Railway and agent for the land company, in Winnipeg and Regina, with G.T. Marsh

Pugsley, Hon. William, lawyer from New Brunswick, practised with Leigh Richmond Harrison;
Liberal Member of Parliament elected 1907 after successful career in New Brunswick politics;
Minister of Public Works 1907-11; remained in the House as Opposition; extensive investments,
including Saskatoon and Western Land Co.; major interest in the Qu'Appelle, Long Lake, and
Saskatchewan Land Co. and Railway, Saskatoon and Western Land Co.

Rayner, Ernest, manager of mercantile firm in Selkirk owned by William Robinson, friend of
Sifton family; Liberal; recruited into the St Peter's 1907 surrender “team.”

Reed, Hayter, began his career as Agent; Indian Commissioner 1888-93; Deputy Superintendent
General of Indian Affairs 1893-96.

Reid, John Lestock, Dominion Land Surveyor; Member of Parliament T.O. Davis took credit
for helping Reid get employment; lived in Prince Albert area, and travelled on occasion with
Davis (Tyler and Wright 197822, 177, 215); worked on contract to Interior 1872-1900; then
worked for Indian Department; surveyed town of Lestock, Sask., which is named for him;
subdivided Ocean Man/Pheasant's Rump 1901; then subdivided Chacastapyasin, Roseau River,
Cowessess, Kahkewistahaw, Fishing Lake, Swan Lake, Key, and Keeseekoose.

Riley, Robert Thomas, manager, Northern Trusts Co.; director Union Bank, Great West Life
Assurance; president at one time of Winnipeg Board of Trade, and ex-Alderman.
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Rimmer, Judge Reginald, from England, moved to Regina; had been partners with
Conservative N.F. Davin; secretary of the Reform Association during the 1896 election; legal
adviser to Lt. Governor 1897; worked as law clerk 1898-1903; got into trouble at Headquarters
1898-99 for circumventing procedures, including a tendency to go straight to DSGIA or Minister
instead of through regular channels; McLean complained (NA, RG 10, vol. 1122); wrote
proposed revision of Indian Act 1900-01; partner with William Trant 1904; appointed Judge
1907; member of Assiniboia club with Graham, Walter Scott; bought land at Muscowpetung sale
1909.

Robertson, Thomas H., acquired some of Moose Mountain land, second transfer of title, 1906.

Robson, Michael, grain and lumber merchant in Regina; bought land at Muscowpetung 1909;
assignee for Cowessess and Kahkewistahaw lands, S.A. Hole, contractor, Regina.

Was he related to E. Robson who worked in Commissioner's Office in Regina/Winnipeg
until 1909?

Ross, James Hamilton, rancher from Moose Jaw; elected to NWT legislature 1883; Liberal
Minister of Public Works 1896; appointed Indian Treaty Commissioner, Treaty 8, 1899; elected
to House of Commons for Yukon Territory 1902; appointed to Senate 1904; friend of both Sifton
and Oliver; in October 1900 Sifton asked him to make a list of Dewdney's "sins" as the latter
was running in the election as a Conservative (NA, Sifton Papers, MG 27, letter book X 1900);
was staying with H. Sherwood, William Graham’s brother-in-law, in Vancouver August 24, 1901
when Sifton contacted him there (NA, Sifton Papers, MG 27, June 1901 - April 25, 1903).

Russell, David, Montreal businessman; bought La Presse 1904; formed Saskatoon and Western
Land Company with William Pugsley 1902, and got involved 1906 in a land deal with the
Qu'Appelle, Long Lake and Saskatchewan Railway Company to buy and sell land; the deal fell
through, and Russell later filed suit against Pugsley and others.

Rutherford, John Gunion (married a Boultbee), veterinarian; settled in Portage la Prairie 1884;
Member of Parliament for Macdonald, Manitoba, 1897-1900, after having served four years in
Manitoba Legislature; on Board of Railway Commissioners 1918; investor with Charles Halpin
(brother of Herbert Halpin, clerk in Department) in Liberal Printing Company of Portage la
Prairie; provided sureties for Samuel Reid Marlatt 1897; advocated for his business partner's
brother, Herbert Halpin, to keep his job in Moose Mountain 1897; appears from Sifton
correspondence to have been a close personal friend of Sifton; wrote with patronage requests.

Ryan, Peter, friend of Clifford Sifton, named as party to the Blood lease in Ferguson report and
in the Debates of the House of Commons; also an associate of Pedley; served as auctioneer for
the Dokis timber sale 1908, receiving a percentage leading to a $2000 fee, rather than the usual
$100-200; registrar for City of Toronto; asked Sifton to intervene for him 1908 to get work from
Oliver as auctioneer.

Sabitawasis, Headman, Fishing Lake; signed the 1907 affidavit of surrender.



Key People in Land Demand, Consent, Acquisition / 497

Scott, Duncan Campbell, employed as extra clerk in the office of the Indian Commissioner
1879 to March 1880; then clerk in Interior; appointed to Indian service 1888; Chief Accountant
1908; DSGIA/Deputy Minister.

Scott, Michael, dealer in farm lands, Main Street, Winnipeg; pushed for Roseau River surrender;
represented Nicoll Halsey of Chicago in land matters 1920s.

Scott, Walter, editor for Regina Leader; Liberal; elected to House of Commons for Assiniboia
West, defeating Davin, 1900; re-elected 1904; first premier of Saskatchewan 1905; Liberal
contact person for West Assiniboia; key patronage contact for Sifton 1902-03.

Secord, John, came first to Regina, then Edmonton; in business with John A. McDougall in
Edmonton; lawyer for NWT Council; elected to NWT Council 1885.

Semmens, John, Methodist minister, former principal of Industrial School in Brandon; friend of
Sifton family; Liberal supporter; appointed Agent for Berens River 1901; became agent at
Clandeboye 1903; Inspector Lake Winnipeg 1904, replacing Jackson; assisted in taking St
Peter's surrender; shareholder in Selkirk Land and Investment Co. from ¢. 1906; appointed to
North Lake Winnipeg Inspectorate 1909.

Service, William, recommended by Smart and Oliverto to be Farming Instructor at Blackfoot
Agency 1901, pushed by Gleichen Liberal Association; Markle recommended against the
appointment of Service (NA, Sifton Papers, MG 27, April 3, 1900-May 6, 1901); placed on
patronage list as blacksmith for the same reserve by McLean 1906.

Shafft, W.M., auctioneer from Ponoka, Alberta, who sold land at November 10, 1909, auction of
Bobtail and Samson's lands.

Sifton, Clifford (born Middlesex County, Ont., 1861, son of John Wright Sifton, married
Elizabeth Arma Burrows, died 1929), moved to Manitoba 1874; father a railway contractor and
speaker of Manitoba legislature; because of childhood illness, was nearly deaf; called to
Manitoba Bar 1882; brother of Arthur Lewis Sifton (also a barrister; served in NWT government
1899-1903; appointed Chief Justice of Supreme Court of NWT 1903; premier of Alberta 1910;
broke with Liberals 1917 and became Minister of Customs under Borden; Minister of Public
Works 1919; became member of Privy Council; died 1921); began practice of law with Arthur in
Brandon, Man. 1882, where he made many business contacts, and established newspaper and real
estate interests; Brandon Sun; Brandon and North West Loan Company; when Arthur left
Brandon for Prince Albert in 1885, became partners with A.E. Philp; member of the Legislative
Assembly of Manitoba 1888-96; Attorney General and Minister of Education 1891-1996; had
Manitoba Schools Act passed; supporter of railway promoters Mackenzie and Mann in this
period; represented Brandon in House of Commons 1896-1911; Minister of the Interior and
Superintendent General of Indian Affairs 1896 to February 1905; resigned February 1905;
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remained in House until 1911, when he withdrew from government; maintained active business
career with his sons (see Appendix D).

Sifton, Harry (son of Clifford), became his father's financial agent : Canada Bond Corp., Canada
Life Assurance Co., Armadale Corporation (see obituaries in Star-Phoenix and Toronto Globe,
June 25, 1934).

Sifton, Victor (son of Clifford), president of Leader-Post and Star-Phoenix corporations.

Simms, S.C., assistant curator Field Museum of Natural History, Chicago; bought land at
Keeseekoose and Crooked Lakes.

Simpson, George A., from Battleford area; may have been related to S.S. Simpson; surveyor
working for the Department of Indian Affairs and the Interior 1879, 1880, 1881; surveyed
reserves in west central Saskatchewan and in Edmonton District; worked as land agent for
Edmonton and Saskatchewan Land Company 1882, while still employed by Department of
Interior. When this was brought to the attention of the Department of the Interior, it was
determined that there was no conflict of interest (NA, RG 15, vol. 273, file 42767, pt. 1).
Shareholder in British North American General Farming and Colonization Co., c. 1882.

Simpson, Sidney Seymour (married to Margaret Ann Speers, daughter of Robert Speers), wrote
to Clifford Sifton from Brandon in 1902 asking for a position as Timber Inspector; later asked for
anything in Saskatchewan (presumably he had known Sifton in Brandon) (NA, Sifton Papers,
MG 27,11 D 15, C544, 106078); worked as Farming Instructor at Battleford Agency under J.P.G.
Day 1902-03; clerk in the Dominion Lands Office in Battleford 1903-05, then became
Immigration Agent Battleford until 1906; Battleford Milling and Elevator Company 1907;
Battleford Agricultural and Arts Association 1907; MLA 1908-17; Liberal; acted as auctioneer in
Grizzly Bear's Head/Lean Man sale June 1906, one week after forming real estate firm,
Champagne, Speers, and Simpson.

Smart, James Allan (born 1858), from Brockville, Ont., son of a manufacturer and merchant in
hardware; merchant in Winnipeg and Brandon; mayor of Brandon for four years; member of
Manitoba legislature1886-92; Minister of Public Works under Greenway; extensive business
interests in hardware, machine works, insurance, and real estate; Deputy Minister of Interior
April 1897-1904; Deputy Superintendent General of Indian Affairs April 1, 1897, to November
1902; interested Carry the Kettle sales 1906, after he left office; in business as James A. Smart
Company in Montreal after he left office; received notice of many Indian land sales.

Smith, George, physician from Toronto; bought land by tender Michel 1904; affiliated with
Joseph R. Miller.

Speers, Alexander (brother of Robert J. Speers), bought land at Grizzly Bear's Head/Lean Man
sales 1908.
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Speers, C. Wesley, from Griswold, Man.; General Colonization Agent, Department of the
Interior, Winnipeg, under Sifton; ran against Sifton for Liberal nomination at Brandon 1896,
stepped aside; associate of Sifton; when Sifton entered office, Speers wrote and asked for
patronage in livestock supply (NA, Sifton Papers, MG 27, vol. 33, 1897); responsible in part for
the Canadian/American links in the Saskatchewan Valley Land Co., and the endorsement of its
land purchase agreement in 1902.

Speers, Robert James , part of real estate firm Champagne, Speers and Simpson, in North
Battleford, formed 1906; bought land at Grizzly Bear's Head/Lean Man auctions ; bought land at
Swan Lake/Tramping Lake auction 1910; address listed as Wilkie, real estate dealer.

Stobart Sons and Co., Winnipeg, Wholesalers; had association with George and Henry Stewart,
W.A. Kenning, Crooked Lakes land sales.

Sutherland, Hugh (born in Scotland), came to Winnipeg 1878; in lumber business Rainy Lake
Lumber Co, Rat Portage; director of Saskatchewan Transportation Co.; railway promoter,
Hudson Bay Railway; president Canadian Northern Prairie Land Co. (see Appendix D, Sifton:
Investments); met with Sifton August 1902, and January 1903 (NA, Sifton Papers, MG 27, letter
book 5); Liberal; Member of Parliament for Selkirk 1882-87.

Swinford, S.S., Agent at Touchwood 1897, replacing J.P. Wright; became Agent at Portage la
Prairie and Manitowpah 1899, in exchange with H. Martineau; moved to Headquarters staff
March 1905; Inspector, Lake Manitoba 1907, replacing Marlatt; Inspector, South Lake Winnipeg
Inspectorate 1909; appointed Inspector for Indian Agency Accounts 1910; took the Swan Lake
surrender early 1908.

Thunderchild, Chief, Chief when the 1909 surrender was taken.

Turiff, John Gillanders, associate of Sifton; came west in 1878; farmer and merchant in Moose
Mountain area; Liberal; sat in NWT Assembly 1886-91; Commissioner of Dominion Lands
1898-1904; promoted Saskatchewan Valley Land Co. deal; involved in timber berth sales with
Sifton; pushed for Cote surrender of lands near townsite 1905; asked for surrender of Swan Lake
IR 7 1901; business interests/investments in the West; elected to House of Commons 1904;
brother-in-law of A.J. Adamson, of Saskatchewan Valley Land Co.; scrip dealer; his wife, Lilly,
held stock in Saskatchewan Valley and Manitoba Land Co., Western Trust Co, Canada
Territories Corporation.

Tye, Alice M. (born 1880 Sarnia, Ont.), moved to Birtle; became clerk to William Graham
December 1903; stayed with him until 1932; bought land at Crooked Lakes; his brother, Howard,
bought land at Crooked Lakes and Muscowpetung; cousin of Graham's wife.
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Vankoughnet, Lawrence (born 1836), from Cornwall, Ont., well-established family; Deputy
Superintendent General of Indian Affairs DSGIA 1874-93; promoted from clerk level, first hired
1861.

Von Rajcs, Zoltan, Hungarian, moved to Canada; worked in journalism, hotel trade( ambiguous
background); hired by Canada to set up Hungarian colonies in the West; released c. 1899 but
continued to promote colonization privately.

Wadsworth, Timothy Page, Inspector of Farms and Agencies 1879; appointed Chief Inspector
for Manitoba and NWT 1894; Calgary Inspectorate 1897; took Passpasschase surrender 1888
while acting as Inspector; took leave 1898 for nervous exhaustion; retired involuntarily 1901.

Blood Indians accused him of working for cattle company which took grazing lease in
1903, arguing in favour of lease while still Inspector (House of Commons Debates, July 11,
1908, 12743).

Wallace, James Ira, physician, Kamsack, Sask.; director of Kamsack Land Company 1908;
Justice of Peace, took declaration for Cote surrender 1907; bought land at Cote land sale.

Wallis, Daniel, from Mandomin, lowa; acquired land by purchase and assignment in the
surrendered Sharphead reserve at turn of century.

Wallis, James R., from Dubuque, lowa; publisher; later worked in New York and Washington
for American Relief Foundation; acquired land by purchase and assignment at Muscowpetung.

Walton, George, resident of Emerson, Man., met with Clifford Sifton 1903 to push Roseau
River surrender; encouraged Sifton to sell Roseau River lands by auction rather than tender;
auctioneer at Grizzly Bear's Head/Lean Man 1909; auctioneer at Swan Lake 1909; Auctioneer at
Peigan 1909; letterhead shows address at 124 Grain Exchange, seller of general merchandise and
livestock; MPP for Manitoba no dates; after Sifton's 1896 election, became local patronage
contact (see NA, Sifton Papers, MG 27, C469, 23859).

West, George F., Omaha railway agent, and immigration sub-agent under W.V.H. Bennett;
involved in scheme to purchase Moose Mountain reserves.

White, Alfred Stamford, grain merchant, Chicago; bought some of first land sold by
Saskatchewan Valley Land Co., c. 1902.

White, D.L., from Midland, Ont., business associate of F.W. Grant in some Indian land
purchases, including at least the Michel and Alexander purchases.

White, Edward H. (son of William J. White), acquired land at Grizzly Bear's Head and Lean
Man sales; certified paying Agent C.J. Johnson at Moosomin surrender; Liberal in Battleford area;

real estate agent in North Battleford; Justice of the Peace; agent for the Ottawa North-West Land
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Co., the Battle River Land Co, the Eastern Alberta Land Co.; part of White Land Company with
his father and his wife, wife held majority shares.

White, William J. (born 1853 Ontario), founded Brandon Sun 1882; expanded into Brandon Sun
Printing and Publishing, in which Smart and Sifton (and Sifton's father) had an interest; sold his
interest in the paper 1897 to Western Publishing Co., a Sifton family enterprise; appointed
Inspector of U.S. Immigration Agencies 1897 by Sifton.

Was this the William White who sold land for the Regina Industrial School to the
Department (NA, RG 10, vol. 1128)?

Wilson, Robert N. (born 1863 Toronto, Ont.), lived in southern Alberta 16 years before
appointment, knew Blackfoot language; Agent for Peigan 1897; transferred to Blood 1903,
replaced by Gooderham; Agent who took the Blood grazing lease in 1903, then became an
employee of the company with the grazing lease.

Wood, William Addison, listed as resident of Edmonton, CPR clerk; major buyer at Alexander
land sales 1906; also acquired land from Michel sales 1906.

Yellow Quill, Chief, Chief at Swan Lake at time of 1908 surrender.
Yeomans, E. H. (born 1893 Ontario), farmer at Sioux reserve, Griswold, 1900; Agent at Peigan

Agency 1907; Agent there when Markle took 1909 surrender; investigated 1913 for political
partisanship (NA, RG 10, vol. 1129).
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APPENDIX A
INDIAN CLAIMS COMMISSION
SURRENDERS RESEARCH PROJECT

FACTORS AND POLICIES CONTRIBUTING TO LAND SURRENDERS ON PRAIRIE
INDIAN RESERVES, 1896-1930

TERMS OF REFERENCE

24 July 1996
RATIONALE

More than one hundred surrenders of Indian reserve land occurred in the prairie provinces
between the late 1890s and 1930. This intense period of reserve land loss began with the election
of the Laurier government in 1896 and continued through successive federal governments at least
until 1930 when the Natural Resources Transfer Agreements gave Alberta, Saskatchewan and
Manitoba responsibility for natural resources. Currently, the Indian Claims Commission (ICC) is
conducting inquiries into the rejection of several prairie surrender claims from this period.

Many of these prairie surrender claims raise similar arguments relating to the validity of
the surrender. First Nations often allege non-compliance with Indian Act surrender procedures,
duress, undue influence, unconscionability, negligent misrepresentation, lack of informed
consent, and breach of fiduciary obligations in the taking of the surrender itself and in the
management and administration of the land and the proceeds after the surrender. In addition,
they have alleged fraudulent conduct on the part of government officials. Case law relating to
surrenders continues to evolve but the Supreme Court of Canada decision in Apsassin suggests
these factual issues are relevant to whether there is evidence of "exploitation," "tainted dealings,"
or lack of informed consent between the Crown and Indians in the particular surrenders under
review. The Indian Claims Commission has made findings on the interpretation of treaties, on
the Specific Claims policy, and on the significance of Indian oral testimony which are of
relevance in defining the scope of this project.

In view of the importance of obtaining information relevant to the historical context of
these surrender claims, the Commissioners have decided to conduct supplementary research into
the broader context of these issues. Accordingly, this research project will survey the factors and
policies involved in this intense period of surrender activity. Regrettably, the time available for
the project precludes developing a useable database of the one hundred or more surrenders. The
project will begin the work, therefore, by focussing detailed data collection on examples from
the years 1896 to 1911. These initial surrenders, taken during the Laurier period and under a
Minister of Indian Affairs who was also the Minister of Interior, helped to establish the pattern of
prairie surrenders for the next two decades.

The project is intended to assist Commissioners in their deliberations and to provide a
broad historical context for the allegations raised by First Nations. It will attempt to identify the
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federal legislative and policy frameworks that prevailed from 1896 to 1930 and the extent to
which social, economic, political and cultural factors influenced the practices of key government
officials and agencies with respect to the surrender of Indian reserves. Where possible, it will
identify First Nations' understandings, attitudes, and values relating to the surrenders.

OBJECTIVES

¢ To provide ICC and the parties to prairie surrender claims of the period with information on
historical factors extending beyond the immediate particulars of such surrenders but which
may be relevant to questions of government policies and practices in the context of federal-
Indian relations and which will assist the Commission to address the relevant issues more
effectively.

¢ To facilitate the assessment and resolution of claims by addressing the gap between
approaches which focus on the validity of surrenders and compliance with technical
requirements of the /ndian Act and a broader approach which takes into account the
ethnological and historical context of reserve surrenders.

SCcOPE OF RESEARCH

The broad period under consideration is 1896 to 1930; however, the years 1896 to 1911 will be
used to limit the sample of surrenders from Alberta, Saskatchewan and Manitoba to a
manageable number. Since this project involves exploring legal, political, economic, cultural
and social factors as well as federal policies and practices motivating surrenders, a wide range of
historical research will be required to carry it out. The following themes will be explored as fully
as possible.

Canadian Legal Framework Governing Reserve Land and Surrenders

What constitutional and statutory provisions applied during the period from 1896 to 1930 which
had a bearing upon the Crown's obligations vis-a-vis Indian lands? What treaty provisions
applied? Was there any applicable case law relating to Indian treaties, lands and Crown
obligations? What legal opinions did the federal government solicit and apply?

Federal Government Policy and Administrative Practices

What were the prevailing policies of Indian Affairs and other federal government departments
and agencies in regard to Indians and reserve lands during that period? Who were the key
government officials involved in Indian policy and surrenders during this period? What
instructions and parameters were given to field officials by senior government officials? What
administrative practices and/or policies were followed by government officials in connection
with surrenders? What relation, if any, was there to local burghers, legislative and church elites?

Other Influences on Federal Government Policies and Practices
To what extent were government policies and practices influenced by legal, social, cultural,
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economic, and political factors (i.e. trade, settlement, immigration, environment, disease,
intertribal rivalry, loss of the buffalo, technology, communication, agriculture, resource
extraction, land speculation, etc.)? What circumstances, assumptions, and attitudes determined
Indians' and non-Indians' land needs throughout the period? Who were the purchasers and
assignees of surrendered land? If there were any key non-governmental actors, who were they?
What influence or pressure was there on Canada from other interests such as provincial
governments, financiers, land speculators, land colonization companies, boards of trade,
municipalities, railroads, merchants, clergy, and the general (non-Indian) public? What, if any,
effect did these influences have upon government policies and practices as well as upon Indian
Bands?

Indian Interpretations of Treaties and Surrenders

What were the Indians' understandings of treaties, reserves, land, and decision-making? What
were the circumstances under which Indians' understandings of treaties and surrenders could be
expressed and implemented?

METHODOLOGY

¢ develop a research plan to identify the primary and alternative sources to be examined and
estimated time required to research each source.

¢ share terms of reference and research plan with First Nations, research organizations, and
Canada's Specific Claims research offices for feedback and suggestions. To avoid delay,
expense, and unnecessary duplication of work, seek agreement of these organizations to share
available research and data, including materials held by ICC which has not been canvassed in
a public inquiry.

¢ review relevant secondary literature including scholarly books, articles, M.A. theses and PhD
dissertations, government publications, reports of other Commissions, etc.

¢ review and compile primary written materials including, House of Commons debates,
Ministerial papers and correspondence, departmental correspondence (Interior, Indian
Affairs, Immigration, etc.), personal papers, corporate records, annual reports, newspapers,
etc. which are normally found in national, provincial and local repositories (archives, records
centres, resource centres, libraries, etc.)

¢ review Indian elders' statements and affidavits, and oral sources of written records. Identify
any constraints on understanding the written and/or oral record.

PrODUCTS OF RESEARCH

Compilation and Index of Primary Materials
An inventory of primary materials is to be prepared in the form of a chronologically organized
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annotated index together with a compilation of documents. Full source references are to be
included in the Index as well as on all pages of the individual items. If possible, and if time
permits, this inventory should also be arranged according to subject matter and by type of source
material for ease of reference.

Bibliography of Secondary Sources

An inventory of secondary materials on the subjects in question will be prepared, in the form of
an annotated bibliography. Annotations will provide a synopsis of content in relation to the
project. In some cases, excerpts will be appended to the bibliography.

Summary of Research

A summary of the research and general findings will be set out in a report to the Commissioners.
Based solely on the information collected by the researcher, the report should attempt to identify
and describe the policies and other factors that governed and influenced the taking of surrenders.
While it will be necessary to explain and refer to various individual surrenders in the report, the
emphasis should be placed upon the general practices and policies of government in the context
of federal-Indian relations. Suggestions for further research and new directions, if any, should be
included in the report. The relative significance of non-Indian records in undertaking this and
further projects should be assessed.

AVAILABILITY OF RESEARCH TO FIRST NATIONS AND GOVERNMENT

The compilation of primary materials, annotated index, and annotated bibliography will be
shared with all interested First Nations and government departments. The Commissioners
reserve the right to review the research report to determine whether it will be shared with the
parties and the public. The report will be made available to the parties if the Commissioners
decide to use the report as a research tool to assist them in the conduct of inquiries into surrender
claims, however, it should be emphasized that the report does not necessarily represent the views
of the Commissioners.

TIME FRAME

The research project shall be completed over the course of six months from June 3, 1996 to
November 29, 1996. Dr. Peggy Martin-McGuire has been retained by the Commission on an
interchange agreement with the federal government to conduct the research.

As outlined above, fulfilment of the contract entails conducting the research, producing an
annotated bibliography of secondary sources and a compilation of documents and annotated
index, and a report to the Commissioners. Ms. Martin-McGuire will be assisted by the Research
Unit within the Commission to ensure completion of the research within the projected
timeframe.
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Surrender Agreement, Affidavit, and Order in Council
Michel Indian Reserve 132 (1903)
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| ,Wz&z!:‘/@/uw /4%
A ﬁ///@/» AIMWM“J Z;W .
}50/1,2” &’x &/a//%oa

'L(]//Zm«w’ 4/2444 ;

A

: ﬂdﬁ/e— ~ /Z“Q/aoéb

’V‘Du\,lg

s_‘ﬁ.«_- P

%//‘)\Za,[%éyp

Sevees Lol
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DOMINIQN OF CANADA, Persoually appeared -before, mo,

RSl P

Conigusd v )
: L neds - |the eFemse of tpiiretni

inthe%ﬁaf ottt et 4‘*‘:5

il i wmd.dz% At

“Chief of the eaid Band of Indiens. /4 :
" AND the ssid ﬁQW«: "/%"%—S for
. himsélf saith
: That the annexed Release or Surrender was assented to by & mejority
.. of the male members of the said Band of Indisns of the
M—A‘-——-—-* ‘of the full age of twenty-one years then
present. . ) . -
That such essent was given af & meeting or council of the said Band °
summoned for that purpose and according to its Rules.
That he was preuent at such meeting orcouncil and heard such assent
" given. ’Se .
That be was duly authorized to attend such council or meetmg bythe
Superintendent General of Indian Affairs.
That no Indian was present or voted at said council or meeting who
weas not a member of the Band or interested in’ the lend mentioned in the

-~ gaid Rel or Su der. - - s

1ease or Surrender was assented to by him a.nd a
.bers of the szud Ba.nd of Indxa.ns of the full age
of twenty»one years t.hen -present. .
: Tb.at such assent was given at » meetmg or council of the said Band
nf Indians summoned for that purpose;.accordmg to its Rules, and held
xz} the présence of the said’ Pkt
. The.t no Indien was prgsont or voted at such council or mesting who
- was Hot aﬂxa. hitual resident.on ¢he Reserve'of the said Band of Tndians-or
1nterested in the la.nd. mentiobed in the seid Release or Surrender.
That be is a Oh.lef of thesaid Band of Indiens and entitled to vote at
the said meeting or oounc:ll v, Co
‘GwoRrN before me by the ;Mff)

Deponenti ’f__é I _._,
atthe ,Zmzese  of 4@‘ :
the o1 thie

/5% day of ézywé AD,
1902 .

leealei
rm No. 66. . 2 f\,%;: f Loer 2t
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LAND SALE REGULATIONS
Document 1 ~ September 15, 1888, Land Regulations
(NA, RG 2, vol. 400, C-3395), 4 pages

Document 2 March 21, 1906, Amendments
(NA, RG 2, vol. 905, file 1358D [3]), 2 pages

Document 3 December 18, 1906, Amendments
(NA, RG 10, vol. 1127), 1 page

Document 4  April 16, 1908, Amendments
(NA, RG 2, vol. 948, file 1868D), 1 page

Document 5 January 24, 1910, Amendments
(NA, RG 2, vol. 986, file 1126), 3 pages

Document 6 March 26, 1918, Amendments
(NA, RG 2, file DC 702), 1 page

Correspondence, February to October 1913, re: Land Management Fund
(NA, RG 10, vol. 2498, file 102986), 12 pages
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oo, No_tiaber, savirloge.slaves: lathwood shinele:

TTTBoltE; coTdwood, o any other ﬁ5(3501-{;3_5{011 of wood, may be-
cut for sale until the patent for the lot shall have issued,
except thatthe ssme may be cut nnder license, issued under
existing regulations governing: the issne of such licenses,

5 tothe party residing thereon by the Indian Lands Agent,

¢" covering any trees cut on the location in actually clearing
the land for cultivation, ‘other than pine or spruce, which
are reserved from the operation of the sale of the land, and
may be otherwise digposed of by the Department, and may

" be cut and removed by the purchaser of said pine or sprace
up to the date on which the patent covering the land shall ,
issne. . . -

Sec. 3. Any violations of the above conditions of sale’
will render thé land in respect to which the same has
taken place, ag well as all moneys paid on account thereof,
iu}-{eitsble, by order of the Superintendent General of Indian

alre. ' -

Sec. @. The.'above regulations as.to_occupation. and
improvement shall not apply to any lands in respect to
‘Which the Snpetintendent Gyeneral of Indian Affairs has--
-Teceived a repoit sworn to by a competent, reliable and
disinterested person, appointed by the Buperintendent
General of Indian Aflnits to oxamine such lands, that the
same are in whole or for the most part unfit for cultivation.

" In the ‘case of such lands the Superintendent General of .
Indian Affairs may dispose of the same, -or of the timber or ™~
other valuables ,__t{eraon or therein, -to the best possible
advantage in the-interest of the Indians, without reference
to occupation or improvement. -

’ _PINE AND SPRUCE TIMBER. .

Bec. 7. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the
Timber and Land Regulations of the Department, the Super-
intendent Gencml_'oﬂndian Affafra is anthorized to sell to
any bona fide actusl settler on a - wood lot or lots being the
purchaser of the same, the pine and spruce timber thereon,
on such terms ‘as may be arranged upon between the pur-
chaser of the said lot or lots and the Superintendent General
of Indian Affairs, always provided that the timber has not

been previously idisposed of by the Department of Indian
_Affairs, . ... - e st -

WCE TREES IN TIMBRR LICENSES,

Sec. 8. All pinetreesand all spruce trees being or growing
upon any Indiamland hereafier sold, and at the time of suc!
sale, or previously, included in any timber license, shall be
considered as regerved from such sale; and such land shall
be subject to any:timber license covering the same which
may be in force at the time of such sale, or may be ted
within three years from the date.of such sale ; and all pine
trees of larger growth than nine inches diameter at the
butt mn{ be cut and removed from such land under a timber
license Iawfullysin force; but the purchaser of the land, or
those cluiming utider the purchaser, may cut and use sach
trees as may be mbcessary for the purposes-of-building,: fen
cing and fuael onjjthe land so purchased; and may also cut
and dispose of, (bat the latter only under a settler's license,
duly obtained frofit the local Indiad Superintendentor Agent) -~ ..
all trees reguiredito beremoyed i 2RTL
for cultivation ; bat no pin?}rees except for necessary build-

ing, fencing nnd,ifnel, as’ aforesaid, shall be cut beyond the .
limit of such actual clearing before the issue of the patent
- for such land pine trees and spruce trees so cut and
-+ "disposed of, ex or said necessary building, fencing and—-

1 fuel, ae aforesaidiishall be subject to the payment of regular

l./ﬁ;,—aﬁﬁﬁy Kf‘iucen'l. added thereto for trespass fine.

; All trees on 'ﬁ"rlmd vhen the patont issues are to become .
// .+ the property of g @ patentee. . .

F Lo moln D aa s QA

- v

e

. Sept. 15,1888 Land Regulations [RG2, vol. 400, c-3sssj )

[TV ———
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’@ Regulations relating to actual settlers on Indiax
< -lands. A . \
y (a.) Purchesers'of Indian isnd are required to clear five
instead of fifteer atTes ; no license fee to be charged for the
-~8aid. five .acrea ordues to be charged upon the timber re-
rmoved therefrot {pine and sprace being reserved), it each .
purchaser beforg receiving a license to cut and remove the'
timber from the said five acres, shall be required to declare-
by written declardtion at the time of sale that he intends
becoming an actual settler on the land, and to obtain from
the agent a licensa to cnt on the five acres.
+_ (5.) Upon it being established to the satisfaction of the
fndian agent by affidavit or statutory declaration of {wo.re-
liable disinterested parties, that the purchaser has eleared on, ™
the laud purchased resdy for cultivation and fenced: af Feast
five acres, and that he has built thereon a habitable dwell: -
ing house of not less than 18 x 24 feet, and that he resides and
that they believe he intends to continue to reside on t&e eaid -

land, the agent moy grant him a seliler's lice gyering
the land included in the sale to him, which must exéeed the
area stated in Section 1 of the Regulations for [3: 8 disposal -
of In%isn Lands namely, 400 acres or 640 acres as the case
may be. - B
{c) Said license shall be issued: for one year only on phy+
ment of a fee of four dollars ($4)F which ‘may be renewed
{enrly on payment of a fee of one dollar (#1), provided there
as been no violation of the terms of the said license. - !
(d) Dues shall be paid on timber cut under said I+
canse in accordance with the following tariff, which dues & itrvew.
or such portion thercof as may be y may be appli
on behalf of the purchaser towards payment of the land, .
and any balancein excess of what is required shall be placed
at the credit of Indian funds :— -
1. Oak and black . walaut and basswood, square - -
timber, per M. cubic feet .. $30 GO
. Oak and black walnut and basswood, saw- -

oy
¥

Gl

15

0gs,
per M. feet board measnre......eereerceescrrans T 400
3. Tamarac, elm, beech, ash, maple, hickory and
buiternat, per M. cubic feet......oiciicieinenes 16 66
4, For the same as saw-logs, per M. feet board
measure,..

. 200
5. Cedar, birch, )

M. cubic feet . 1500
6. For the same as saw-logs, per M. feet board )
TEASTTR. s cvsnsear . 100

%7. Hemlock, par M: cubic feet, includin,
8. Hemlock, per M. feet, board measure
9. Hemlock bark, per cord.....
10. Pipe staves, per M. standa
11. West India .. do de .
12. Railway. ties, tamarac, or cedar, per

inches and under at the butt............ 200 & "
13. Telegraph poles, per 100, up to 80 feet lon, 500 2 IS
14. Over and above that length the rate to be in- x 6\'

creased in proportion to the length. RS
15. Boom timber, per M. cubic feet......... € 00 PN
16. do sper M. feet board measure 0 40 4 §
17. Cedar pickets, per 100.. e 100 5 2
18. Tamarac knees, lineal measnrement, pe: ~

feet....... iesesscemneonse . . 1500 4
19. Shingle balts, por cord.... . odo '\; N
20. o - in advantageous localities . 0 50 N
21. Cordwood, hard, per cord.......oosesnae 015 % °
22, Cordwood, hard,in advantageous localities. 020 f‘a \E'
23. Cordwood, 8oft, per cord. N

24; Cordwood, soft, in advantageous localities.

§
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V

REGULATIONS FOR THE DIAPOSAL OF BURRENDERED IXDIAN
LANDS.
% Section 1. Not more than four lota of 100 acres each, more
or less, nor lesa than one such lot, or more than one section
of 640 scres, more oriless, ot less than one-quarter of such
section shall be sold fo any one purchaser. ;
8cc. 2« Not less than one-fifth of the purchase mone . '
shall be paid at date of sale, and the balance must be pai
in equal annual consecutive instalments with interest at
six per centum on each instalment from data of sale to date
of payment;—payment to be made into a branch of any i
chartered bank of Canada, to the credit of the Minister of
Finance and Receiver Genera), on nccount of Indian funds, !
and bank certificatea—duplicate and triplicate,—and drafts
to be handed or sent-fo-the agent within whose agency the = -
lands on account of which such payment has been made,
: are situated. o . :
. Sec. 8- Settlement on the lot or lota included in'any sale, *.
! is one of the conditions thereof, "and shall consist of actual
occupation and imprévement of the land, which must com- -
, mence with?n six months from the date of sale ard be con- !
) tinoous for & periodfof three years; within which-time .
y there shall be cleared’and fencex{ at least five sctts in every’
one huirdred scres, otin that proportion ; also a dwelling - - -
' house of not less than 18 x 24 feet must be -erected on the
i land included in an: R [ -




Appendix C: Land Sale Regulations / 527

L AR
 fovnin by P 2019, 29[ ‘ v4
- JM7‘ Ukq, 9:1 b .

= . Rsz 16~ -0

044«40 %ﬂ/‘-w —

t
}
A\

NYEG N AL

: R
FRE @‘}y“‘f 70 iy 5 ¢ ?(’




528 / First Nation Land Surrenders on the Prairies, 1896-1911

/7//,/(/'

(NN

a/f ,474(‘; 9)7/€Lr«z///7//z4y'(f ;/.»41(/41 a/f _ﬂ%}};m/_ ]
e 2/ef e, oy 26

p ,
ool
L% glﬁl’effm,(ff %"v{ai f'ru\// i

D Bt e 25776

| A Creanit,
He Sppesnat. Gonerad i, me;;@, on i Ats
[Zﬁ{z Ptonscns 4 e didcoees B €A giin 43 %zz‘(
oo, ditlts 7/ é’wﬁéﬁu, o floaced & Olor tat He

/ﬂ/w&i};—b‘tw 7%4/14% %Mmz %/ Qochiheredesel ‘
e i, ealilllidic by Uder s Grenasl gf e /5 |
W@g 168%; ehall be avn L WA&W?(M&’//? ancacled-by

A

March 21, 1906 Amendments [RG2, vol. 905, file 1358D (3)]



Appendix C: Land Sale Regulations / 529

l&é{[(«;/z( /2% 4;//414 22 /L‘Zi'édz, / pz o4 aé‘?z,a,o(q ﬂ/¢(&/4xf/£4

'/57 Jtcaé /(zméuf—

\74& ,./144.9{4 et 77 a (tws Pecane Tt (/Jéw
, / Va & ?/

zfnu //é; Datrrreerer alloue allowed. 71-1.«;( 444./«7/(&{«%/
‘ . I3 ) ’
Lgrche /71621&/«,4444444 Bttt L0.Dtr Arees avacladdl.
. / s Y A
1110/(4 @(/Zr‘;d '?:: wrllite a Lé/;;ao {/;M W:,/Mﬁﬂ“/f ‘%
/ ) ! . .
ﬂ%ﬂé‘d/tﬂ(?z;(,(.‘le&(, /1(’”:4(&((‘/ [J]WM, f%;«/ty/é_;ﬂ et
/
nie /Muzula e go M%,‘M “eziceted MI% PreceeTT
& c«mf/;’ww A {% e

~ ’/ /@90V




530 / First Nation Land Surrenders on the Prairies, 1896-1911

RG10, vol 1127, C-9006

Letter poor copy - recorded here:

Ottawa, 18th December, 1906

His Excellency the Governor General in Council:

The undersigned begs to state that under the provisions of Section 2 of the Land
Regulations of the Department of Indian Affairs (as established by Order in Council of
15th September, 1888) Indian lands when purchased from the Department must be
paid for one-fifth cash and the balance in four equal annual consecutive instaiments,
with interest at six per cent.

It is considered, however, by the Department that, in so far as Indian lands in Manitoba,
Alberta and Saskatchewan are concerned, that possibly by extending the time for
payment larger prices could be obtained for lands when being sold.

The undersigned would therefore recommend that the Superintendent General be
authorized, at his discretion, to make dispositon of Indian land in the Provinces of
Manitoba, Alberta, and Saskatchewan subject to payment of not less than one-tenth of
the purchase money at date of sale and the balance in nine equal consecutive
instalments with interest at five percent on each instalment from date of sale to date of
payment.

Signed, Frank Oliver

D ber 18, 1906 A d [RG10, vol. 1127]
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-y P.0.852, . 'j\

A
‘At the Goverrment House at Ottawa,

%u‘uf /6’pl4=7 7»/1)-4«2 190%

Present,
His ﬁxcellency,
In Council.

Hig Excellenocy is pleased to order that section

3 of "%t"ile"Regﬁlations for the pimposal of Indian Lands"as
egtablished by Order in Councll or I5th of September,
1888,3hall be and the same is hereby amended so as to

provide that,as regards sales made after the Ist of May,

: xsos;inaf.ead of interest at 6% being charged on each in-

stalment of purchase money as it falls due,— inter;st at

5% shall be charged on the wnpald balance of purchase

& modo#.

U, bitinio— /6 7%0?

April 16, 1908 Amendments [RG2, vol. 948, file 1868D]
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P. C. 11k,

On a Memorandum dated 1st December, 1909, from the
Superintendent General of Indian Affalrs, stating that
in thoe past it_nas been the usage of the Department of
Indian Affairs acting under regulations uppfoved by
‘the @Governor in Council to dispose of Indian Lands on the
instalment plan, usually requiring a first cash payment
of one toenth of the purchase price and the balance in
nine equal annual instalments with interest at 5.

It has ﬁlso been the practice of the Department, without
any statutory or otherwise approved regulations, to credit
to the Capital account of the Indian owners of the land
the interest on the dsferred payments as well as the
instal‘ménts of the purchase price. The practice was

adopted:in the early days when the only land for sale was in

~the Easfern vrarts of Canada where the Indians had already

made considerable advance toward self-support, The
prices r&r which the land was then sold were small and
it was a't that time good policy to strengthen the capital
funds otj the Tribes in Order that the annual income
might 'be""f:stable and sufficient for all roquirements.,

The Dex;a"irtment of Indian Affairs has carried this prin-
cipie irto its lana transactions in the Western Provinces,
but it now seems necessary, owing to the special needs
of the Indians in this portion of the Dominion to amend
the pzra.c?tice. In & number of cases when land was sur-
rended by the Indians of 1“.he Provinces of Saskatchewan

i

and

Jan. 24, 1910 Amendments [RG2, vol. 986, file 1126)
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/14 (e
and Alberta the officers acting for the Department of
Indian Affairs understocd that the whole of the interest,
both that upon deferred land payments and that accruing
from deposits with the Government would be available
for current expendituro, and, based upon this undcr-
standing, they made certain promises to the Indians.

In several instances so great has been the dissatisfaction
of the Indians at the smallness of the interest availalle
that the Departgent has been constrained to obtain the
authority of the Governor in Council to place to the
credit of the current account the interest on the
deferred paymenis. It would seem that the advancement of
the Indians in the newer provinces would be promoted by
allowing a1l the interest accruing on Indian funds to
be treated as interest and to become available for general
expendi tufe. The 'pric‘e at which the Indiasn Jand is being
now sold is higher than in the early days of settlcment
in Ganad.a;,‘ so that considerable capital is ensured to the
desgsnduh;fs of the present Indlans. Moreover, there exists
the necey'néity for funds for immediate expefiditure for
farming bfiérations on Indian Reserves in Saskatchewan
and Alberta and by utilizing available Indian funds
parliama'n:t.éry appropriation will be reasonably curtailed,
Matiy of 't‘hése purchases and contemplated improvements
are of such a nature that they will add to the value
of the Indlans: estates and greatly advance their present
condition;and benefit thoir posterity,

l'\l‘he Minister, t.hérefore, ‘rscommends that in
future the interest on deferred Indian land payments
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/ /1// ;0

throughout the Dominion be credited to the Interest
Account of the Indian owners and that this regulation

may be made rotroattive in cases where it seems beneficial

to do so.

The Committeo submit the same for approval.

i

o
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At the Oovernment Houes at onawa

A

Present:-

s

His BExoellenoy f
the Governor CGenaral
. in counoil'
WHERZAS undar the pravisions of seotion 2 of the
Land Regulations of the Department of I'\diu.n Affairs as

enublished vy arder 1n Couneil ot lsth Septmbe.r, pt.1.1. 18

Uon sales made i(ly.’ter tha'f:i 'ot"l'(w, 1908, 1a oharged at
-the rata of tive per cent instead ot six per sent;

AND 'H"R..ls 1t 1u considered, howsver, that the
rate of mterust o, sa.les wade after the 1st of Pebruary, )
1918, and on arrears ot prinoipal and interest should he

3 8ix per uent "inatead of five perzent,, ‘and that

» purohauars no' or hereafter in arrears for payment on the
lands y\n-ohasod by thm befars sald date should be oe.llod‘
npon to pav interest at the said rate of aix per oent".
above; A T~

.+ THERZFOSE His Exasllenoy tre adverhor oe’p/e;.;l n

COun;il 1s pleassd to authorize and d.ath nersby authorize,

“tha Sup-_u'intendent. émcrul of Indian Affairs to charge

[z0Z *0Q °13 ‘Z9Y] SyuswIpudWY 8L6L ‘9T UY2IEN

interocst at the rate of six per cent, on all sai‘e's_ mades
after the Pirst day 9;_ Pobruary, 1918, and on arresra of

intereat on such suéfv and also on all balanues.ot

prlncipal and 1m.eraat that are now or may heroafter be in
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File 102,986,

Department of Indien Affeirs,

Ottawa, l4th February, 1813.

Sir:=

I heve to inform you that it is ths intention of this
Department aoting undsr proper authority te closs the Indian Trust
Fund Acoount, oalled the Indian Land lanegement Fund, end distri-
bute the fimda at present in the asoount pro rate to the Trust
Accounts of the Indian Bands who contributed thereta. The sys-
tem of levying a oontribution of 1019 upen the revenue arising from
the sale of lands and timber wherewith to form a fund to whioh ths
expenges of the management of the estate could be charged, was be-
gun when the Indian Department was administered by the Imperial
Authorities, when the Governor of the Provinos was Superintendent
General of Indian Affairs,

The Imperial Goverrment had eignified their intention
of handing over the management of Indian Affairas with its expen-
ses to the Province of Canada, and the ooat of management was to
be met by the edoption of this plen. In ell probability the
scheme was authorized by the Governor, as Superintendent General,
The acocount was opened on the lat of April, 1867. No 6rder in
Counoil seems to have been paseed setiing the rate to be deducted.
The Dominion Archiveat reports that a oareful search of these re-
cords of t‘he Privy Oouncil now deposited in the Arohives has failed
to dlaclose any such Ordsx“ in Gouncil.

The Royal Cormission which inveatigated Indien Affairs,
end reported in the year 1858, dealt with the esteblisiment of

E. L, Newoombe, Esqr., C.M.G., K.C., LL.D,, the

Deputy Miniater of Justice,
Ottawa, Ont,

Correspondence Feb.-Oct. 1913 re: Land Management Fund
{RG10, vol. 2498, file 102,986]
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a.

the fund and recommendsd its oontinuance. By Order in Council of
the 168th January, 1861, the Indian Funds in the hands of the Ras
geiver General on tha 8lat December, 1860, were assumed by ths Pro-
vince. On September 24th, 1861, His Excellenoy in Council approv-
ed of & memoranduam of the Auditor of Publio Acoounte, sdopted by
the Board of Audit, in which Management Fund is mentioned am fol=
lowe:=

"The present Menagement Fund to be retained to the end
"of the year, as one of the subsidiary acoounts, for the purpose
“of asoertaining how far it meats those expenses, the seme expen—
“"gem to be charged againat it as heretofore.!

The Statutes relating to Indisns make no mention of the
adniniatration of Indien Funde, until tle year 1808, when the Act
of that year contains the following Seotion:-

¥ The Governor in Council may,subjest to the provisions
"of this Aot, direot hov and in what manner, and by whom the moneys
"arising from sales of Indien Lands, and from the property held or
"to be held in trust for the Indians, or from any timber thereon,
Vor from any otler source for the benefit of Indians, shall be in-
"vested from time to time, and how the payments or amssistence to
"which the Indians mey be entitled shell be made or given, and may
Uprovide for the general management of such lands, moneys and pro-
"oerty, and direot what percentage or proportion thereof shall be
"set apart from time to time, to cover the cost of end attendant
"upon such management under the provisiona of this Act, end for the
“oonstruction or repaeir of roads passing through suoh lands, and by
‘way of oontribution to schools frequented by such Indians." Mo
‘Order in Oouncil has been passed undsr the euthority of tlhis Seo-
tion direoting what psroentage or proportion thersof shall be set
apart from tine to time to ocover the cost of end ettendant upon such

monegement under the provisions of tha Act,

As
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3.

As the Management Fund wes not completely self-supporting
it was thought good policy not to carry on this method of paying
thie expenees of administration. Parliament at its last Session
provided funds to mest the sxpenditure presvicusly charged to the
Fund, so that the account hes at present no function to perform.

It is proposed to distribute pro rata on asome equitable
basis the funds remaining in the acoount to the Indisn Bands who
oontributed. 1 have to agk whether in your opinion the Depart-~
ment will requirs an Order in Council or other authority for the
proposed distridbution of the fimd and a disoontinuance of the per-

centage oolleotions.

Your obedient ssrvant,

(Signed ) Frank Pedley,

Deputy Supt. Genéral

of Indien Affairs.
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P. File 103,086,

Ottawa, Maroh R6th, 1013.

Please eddress reply to
Deputy Minister of Justioe.
R47-18.
8ir:-

Replying to your letter of the l4th ultimo, in which
you request to be adviased whetlier your Department will require
any, and what authority for the proposed diatridbution of the In-
dian Land Management Fund and a diesoontinuance of ths perocentage
oollections hitherto made towards that find, I heve the honour to
say that I have aeen Mr, Joott, the Chief Accountant of your De-
partment with reference to the maﬂ;er end I wnderstand from him
that i1t {8 proposed to have en Order in Council passed onh the joint
report of the Deputy Superintar;dsnt General of Indian Affairs and
the Deputy Minister of Finance with the conourrence of the Auditor
General. This Order in Oouncil will state briefly the position
of the fund and the proposed metlicd of distribution.

I understand that you consider a distinotion should be
nads between the Indians contributing to the fund at the time of
Confedsration, in ths Province then forming the union, end the In-
diens in the West who have since coniributed to the fund, that in
as much as the larger part of the benefit derived from the fund
has been obtained by the Indians in the Eamstern Provinces, ; return
in full of their oontributiona should be made to the Indicna in the
West, and the balonce distributed pro rata to the Indian Bands in
the Eastern Provincea.

I see no objections from thae legal point of view, to the
propoaed arrangement and think it highly desireble if only ra a mat-
ter of record, that the Order in Council ghould set out the facts

The Deputy Superintendsnt,
Department of Indien Affaira,

Ottawa.
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faots and manner of the proposed distribution,

I have the honour to be,
Sir,

Your obedient aervant,

(8igned) E. L. Newoombe,

Deputy Minister of Justice.
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kExtract from the minuies of a meeting of the Honourabls the

Treasury Board, held at Ottawa, on thGNSEVEHmWH .
day of... NOVEMBER;

The Board having had under consideration
the various Reports and Memoranda in conncction
with the following cases, beg to répart to His
Royal Highness the Governor General in Council,

as follows:.........
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Ottaws, 30th October, 1913.

His Royal Highness

the Governmor General in Counoil -

The undereigned has the honour to
pubmit herewith a joint memorandum from the Auditor
General, the Deputy l!.iniatgr of Pinance and the Deputy
Superintendsnt General of Indian Affairs with reference
to the Indian Land Management Pund, and to recommend
that the plan suggested for the distribdution of the
Pund be carried out.

stperintendent General
of Indian Affairs.



544 / First Nation Land Surrenders on the Prairies, 1896-1911

Ottewa, Oct.l8th, 1913,

The Superintendent General

0f Indien Affairs -

The undersigned have the honour to report that they
have considered the condition of the Indisn Land Uanagement
Fund.

This aooount was opened on the lat of April, 1857,

Up to that time the admintiatration expsngses of the Indian De-
partment had been borne by the Imperial Government. As they
had eignified their intention of handing over the managzement

of these affaire to the Province of Osnada, the Government of
that Province had of necessity to inaugurate a soheme for meeting
the expenditurs. It was sugzgested that the Indian estate ahould
be called upon to defray the expensea of management. Thias prin-
ciple was approved end ten per oont.was set apart from the funds
belonzing to the Indians in the hands of the Department and a
ten per oent.levy wes to be oontinued on all future payments re~-
veived for Indian lands and timber, From the fapitel ac form-
ed and from the revenue arising therefrom the expensea, formerly
net by the Imperial Government Grant, vere to be defrayed. The
fund wae not sucoessful in meeting these sxpenses and was ao de-
ficient that in 1892 it was found neassaary for Parliament to oome
to its asaistaonce.

The oondition of the fund at that time was fully set
forth in an Order of His Excellenoy the Governor Gensral in
Gouncil, dated the R9th September, 1882. The Parliamentary ap-

propriation was oontinued in aid of the fund during the fiscal

year
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year 1911-1912 for which year & grant of $10,000,00 was sppro~-
priated for this purpose.

At firat the fund appertained solely to the Province
of Qanads., After Qonfederation oontributions from the Provin-
cea of Nova Sootis, New Brunawiok end Prinos Edward Island were
added and later when Indian lands in the portion of Ontario.vest
of Port Arthur, in British Columbie and in the territory now oom-
prised in Saskatohewan and Alberta were mold, the usual percen-
tage from the revenue was orsdited to the same fund. The only
fixed chargea on the fund, however, continued to be the salaries
of Indian Agents in Ontario -and Quebao, together with the expenses
of the Agencies and only oasual and very limited expenditures for
Indian purposes arising in the other Provinoes were charged to the
account, Parliament having provided annual grants from Consolidat-
ed Revenue to meet the adminimtrative expensss in all the Provin-
ces except Ontaric and Quebveo. A atatement of the percentages
oredited to the funa from the Indian Revenue in the Provinces for
the year 1811-1912 and the expenditure charged will show & rem-

arkable disorepanoy between revenue and expenditure.

Percentege Revenue Expenditure
Ontario and Qushes 9,288,156 © 86,802,908
New Brunswiok 154.88 223.47
Novae Sootia 14.8¢ 14.50
Uanitodba 6,101,904 890.78
Seskatohewan, Alberta &
North West Territories 21,701.89 2,469.88
British QOolumbia 10,507.48 870,04
Total - $47,048.66 $89,862,52

From this atatement it will be meen that the revenue
from the new Provincsaswas supporting the expenditure in the old-
er Provinces and that the fund wes being built up at the expense

of colleotions from Indians the oost of whose management is paid
from
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from publio funds. As the fund was unworkable and the prin-
ciple upon whioh it was being oondusted was not aound, Parliament
granted en appropriation to pay the cost of Indian administration
in Ontario end Quebeo, end sinoe the lat of April, 1912, the ex~
penses have been charged to this appropriation.

The funotion of the Indian Land Management Fund has,
therefore, ceased end no percentages have been collected since
the 1st of April, 1812. There remains, howaver, the accumulat-
ed fund to be disposed of whioh consists of $94,888,88 at six per
cent and $319,906,3C at three per ocent, or a total of $414,805,24.
An these emounte are not required for the purpose for which they
vere intended it is proposed to repay them to ths accounts from
whioch they were colleoted and allow them to form part of the Cap-
ital Funde of the Bands intereated. Careful oonsideration hes
been given as to the fairest method to be amdopted in making the
propoged digtribution. The total amount ocolleoted from the lst
of April, 1867, to the 3lst Meroh, 1012, was $798,651.70, as

follows:-

Ontarioc and Quebec $692,606.69
New Brunswiok 4,875.83
Nova Scotia 1,088.58
Meni toba 34,168.76
North Weat Territories 131,844.44
Britial Columbie 84,966.40

Total - $798,551,70

As will be seen by far the larger portion of the
fund has besn received from Indian property in the Provincea
of Oﬁtario and Quebec. The comparative statement previously
given between revenue and expenditure will show that the cost
of menagement in the otlier Provinces charged to the fund has
been slight,

It is
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It ia, therefore, proposed in olosing the asocount
to treat 1t =3 one appertaining to the Provines of Canada
(the Provinces of Ontario and Quebeo), to repay to the Indim
Bands of the other Provinces thsir oontributions in full and
to pay the Indien Bends of Ontario end Quebec the remainder.,

In future the cost inoident to the sale of Indian
lands and timber will be charged direotly tc the Band accounta;
the ordinary expenses of adminiatration will be charged to
funds provided by Parlisment.

The underaigned would, therefore, recommend that the
above aotion be taken. I,f'

Attachsd hersato are copies of ocorrespondence on this

subjeot betwean the Department of Indien Affairas and the Depari-

nent of Juatice.

DEPUTY MINISTER OF FINANCE.

vt

DEPUTY SUPERINTENDENT GENERAL
: OF INDIAN AFFAIRS.



APPENDIX D

CLIFFORD SIFTON: INVESTMENTS

Miscellaneous items pertaining to Clifford Sifton's investment, incomplete

See also: Chapter 2, Land and Colonization Companies, particularly Saskatchewan Valley Land
Company and the affiliated firms.

See vols. 296, 297, 298, 310 of the Sifton Papers, MG 27, NA.

Sifton stated in a letter to Col. F.J. Clark of Brandon: "I restrict my circle of investments to those which I
can keep in touch and to some extent control" (NA, Sifton Papers, MG 27, D 11 15, vol. 297, letter of
Dec. 2, 1909).

Lawyer: C.A. Masten in Toronto
Financial Agent: John Bain - International Marine Signal Co., with W. H. Housser
Former law partner and associate: A.E. Philp
Other associates:
D.C. Cameron (Rat Portage Lumber)
A.W. Fraser, solicitor
T.A. Burrows, brother-in-law
J.H. Housser, Massey-Harris Co., and International Signal Marine, Toronto
F. H. Chrysler, solicitor
C.B. Piper, Atlas Elevator Co., Grain Exchange, Winnipeg
A M. Grenfell, London
J.G. Turiff, Moose Mountain, Commission of Dominion Lands 1897-1904, under Sifton

After he left Cabinet, Sifton was criticized in 1907/08 for his handling of timber limits and leases. He
was accused of securing favourable leases for his brother-in-law, T.A. Burrows. He was also accused of
not putting upset prices on timber berths, of not offering sufficient advertising, and of securing favours
for friends. (Dafoe 1931, 309-12) Peter Ryan, who worked for the city of Toronto, in the City Registry
Office, also worked as an auctioneer for the sale of timber berths. He wrote Sifton in 1908 asking him to
intervene with Oliver to procure more work for him, at his rates, but Sifton replied June 13 that this
might do Ryan more harm than good. (vol. 297, Sifton Papers) Ryan had been criticized in the House for
making more money from auctions than was normally the case, by charging a commission with no upper
limit. Ryan may have assisted Sifton and associates in getting timber berths.

In 1909, T.O. Davis, MP from Prince Albert, asked Sifton to intervene with Prime Minister Laurier on a
related matter. Oliver had raised the dues from timber limits from $5 to $10, and Davis, citing the
hardship to him, to D.C. Cameron (one of Sifton's partners in Rat Portage/Chehalis timber companies),
and to Herman Finger (who bought land in several Indian land auctions, and who had a lumber company
at The Pas) (vol. 297, Sifton Papers; letters of September 16 and 29, 1909).

Sifton used John Bain, Douglas Cameron, and W.H. Housser as partners in the buying and selling of
timber (see Chehalis Lumber Co., below).

Clifford and his father had an interest pre-1897 in White's Brandon Sun Printing and Publishing Co., then
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the Western Publishing Co., which bought out White's interest in 1897. They acquired the Manitoba Free
Press in 1898.

In 1901 Masten wrote Sifton about getting a charter for an unidentified company in New Jersey. Masten
pointed out that foreigners could be incorporators in this state, and the new corporation could hold the
stock for Canadians in real estate, mortgages, or other financial activities. (Letter Masten to Sifton,
September 9, 1901; NA, Sifton Papers, MG 27, II D 15, vol. 296)

1904 - He invested heavily in lots in Port Arthur, Ontario - when the GTP terminal was built. (Hall 1985,
2: 28) He worked with A.E. Philp, his former law partner, on this, and it appears that Smart bought land,
as well, for he asked Sifton in 1912 to buy it from him at $1700/acre. (Letter Sifton to Philp, July 27,
1912, vol.298)

John Bain, of International Signal Marine Co., seems to have been a primary financial advisor. His
letterhead from a letter of April 13, 1910 is from the Commercial Intelligence Branch of His Majesty's
Board of Trade. In 1911 Bain asked Sifton to intervene for some civil servants who he feared would lose
their jobs, and he also asked Sifton to intervene with his brother Arthur to secure the ratification of some
franchises for the Calgary Natural Gas Co. (vol. 297)

Partial review, firms with Canadian natural resource content only
(From NA, MG 27,11 D 15, vols. 296, 297, 298, 310)

Bank of Ottawa
Sifton held 451 shares, his wife, 91

British Empire Agency Ltd.
Based in London
Sifton bought the majority of shares from Arthur Morton Grenfell in 1912. We know he had previous
dealings with Grenfell because in 1908 there was an exchange of letters between him and Walter Scott,
then premier of Saskatchewan, concerning a private offer from Grenfell and his company to purchase
Saskatchewan government bonds. Sifton and Bain were intermediaries, and Scott backed out of the deal
when Bain spoke publicly about his role in "negotiating" for Saskatchewan. (NA, MG 27, Sifton
investment papers, vol. 297, correspondence of Walter Scott, July - October 1908)
Attracted British capital for Canadian and other colonial land investments; acted as an immigration
agency; land investments.
Affiliated with British Empire Trust Co., which was managed by John Davidson, London.
Legal counsel was the Blake, Lash, Anglin, and Cassels firm of Toronto.
Acted as trustee (holding funds for) or registrar for (partial list):

CNOR

Qu'Appelle, Long Lake, and Saskatchewan Railroad and Steamboat Co.

Canadian Northern Pacific Railway

Canadian Western Natural Gas, Light, Heat, and Power Co., Ltd.

Columbia River Lumber Company

Canadian Western Lumber Co.
In the 1920s, it had extensive listings of western lands, including some former Indian lands (Broadview
sales).
One of securities was Canadian Northern Prairie Lands Co., Ltd., which was formed in 1904 to buy
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500,000 acres of CNOR land at $3/acre in order to sell to settlers at 6%. The Directors included D.B.
Hanna and Col. A.D. Davidson. CNOR controlled stock, then resold them in England (Regehr 1976, 229-
31). In 1912 Sifton transferred his shares to British Empire Trust (vol. 298). The Canadian Western
Lumber Co. and the Columbia River Lumber Co. were headed by Col. A.D. Davidson, with A.D. McRae,
Mackenzie and Mann, and D.B. Hanna. They were under this umbrella.

Canada North West Land Co. (subsidiary of CPR)
Sifton invested in this company in 1902 (Hall 1985. 2: 28).

Canadian Farmer (newspaper for Galicians)

Sifton was an investor, and it seems to have been connected to the Free Press. In 1907 Sifton solicited
help from Frank Oliver, who was thinking of starting a rival publication. Oliver wanted control of the
newspaper. Other investors included Dr. E.L. Cash, A.J. Adamson, J.O. Smith, T.A. Burrows, Dr.
Mclntyre, S.J. Jackson (Letter, John Appleton to Sifton, Sept. 26, 1907, vol. 296).

Canadian Investment and Brokerage Co.

Formed in 1902, C.A. Masten was president, while Sifton was a major sharecholder with A.P. Collier, his
private secretary. This was a loan company, and the presidency was soon transferred to Sifton. In 1905 it
became the Canadian Assets and Brokerage Co. (Hall 1985, 2: 26).

Canadian Guaranty Trust Company

Alex C. Fraser was President of this company. Sifton had 100 shares in 1917.

The majority of shareholders were from southern Manitoba and its head office was in Brandon, with a
branch in Swift Current. R.M. Matheson, S.S. Simpson, J.H. Ross, and George Brown were among co-
investors.

Canadian Northern Land Company

This was a vehicle for Sifton to invest in land which began in 1904. C.A. Masten was a shareholder, as
were F.H. Chrysler and Charles Bethune. Its head office was located in Regina, and it is not clear if
Sifton was an investor or whether he directed the operations through Masten.

Canadian Northern Prairie Lands Co. See British Empire Agency, above.

Canadian Western Natural Gas, Light, Heat, and Power Company, Ltd. See also British Empire Trust,
above.

Sifton and later his sons had apparently a major interest in this multi-functional company, which
apparently supplied utilities to Calgary for many years. The British Empire Trust Company apparently
had financial control of the company, and when in 1915 R. Horne-Payne of the British Empire Agency
discussed with Sifton the need for new management of the firm, he noted that both he and Sifton had a
lot of money at stake. Masten, Spence and Starr were the legal counsel for the power company (NA,
Sifton Papers, MG 27, D 11 15, C493).

Chehalis Lumber Co.

Investors included: C.B. Piper (Atlas Elevators, Winnipeg Grain Exchange), John Bain, Ottawa, D.C.
Cameron, P.A. Brooks, of Brooks-Scanlon Lumber Co., Minneapolis (one-half), H.B. Housser, W.H.
McWilliams (Atlas Elevators), Rat Portage Lumber Company has one third of shares. It was formed c.
1908 to hold and sell timber limits. In 1909 D.C. Cameron transferred 375 shares to Sifton and retained
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375 shares for himself. Sifton acquired one quarter of shares.
Incorporated in Manitoba, the majority of its business was in British Columbia.

Sifton and his associates secured timber privileges on Chehalis Creek in 1907, before the company was
incorporated. Bain did the bidding on Sifton and Cameron's behalf (see vol. 296).

June 18, 1907, Cameron writes Sifton, ". . . in the meantime you should make provision for taking care of
these berths, as they are in my opinion good ones" (vol. 296). According to letters of August 8 and 9,
1907, it appears that there was some partnership with M. Scanlon and George Howe of Minneapolis, the
latter being the father in law of A. McRae of Davidson and McRae. Later correspondence reveals that the
Brooks Timber Co., run by P.A. Brooks and M. Scanlon of Minneapolis, were co-investors (see NA,
Sifton Papers, MG 27, C495, correspondence with J. Davidson).

Milk River Cattle Co.

Co-investor with A.E. Philp and J.D. McGregor; ran a ranch in southern Alberta near the border. It seems
possible that James Smart had an interest in this, according to correspondence, but this is speculation.
The "Spencer Brothers" from Montana, plus a group of men from North Dakota (William Taylor, John
Mclntyre, and William Harper) were also involved in the purchase of land and the operations of the
ranch; the Spencer brothers were prosecuted by Customs in 1902 for smuggling cattle across the border
(NA, Sifton Papers, MG 27, reel 542, p.104061ff).

Saskatchewan Valley Land Company. See Chapter 2, Land and Colonization Companies
Sifton may have invested in the purchase of the Qu'Appelle, Long Lake and Saskatchewan Railway grant
lands in 1902.

Saskatchewan Savings and Trust Company
According to Tyler and Wright (1978) the company was owned by the Sifton family ¢. 1914. No research
was done on it.

See Chapter 6, on Ocean Man and Pheasant's Rump. There has been speculation that Sifton had some
involvement with James Smart, Frank Pedley, and William J. White in the purchase by tender of these
surrendered lands, via A.C. Bedford-Jones:

The original purchasers of the land by tender did not hold the land long. Beaumont, Marsh, and
McKenzie assigned their lands to Bedford-Jones, who sold most, but not all, of it to Alfred S. Porter and
Eugene Case of Minneapolis. Case was the manager of the Canadian American Land Co., and Porter
owned the Porter Advertising Company. Case then signed his interest over to Porter, who raised money
in partnership with C.A. Diehl and ten or eleven other men. They attempted to find buyers at $4.50-
$7/acre. (Northwestern Reporter, vol. 105: 326-49) Bedford-Jones conducted the negotiations, and
concluded in the same six months after the purchase by tender. They sold the lands for twice what they
paid for them (Tyler and Wright 1978: 224). The land remained in Bedford-Jones' name until it was paid
for and title was raised, then Porter and the other purchasers acquired title.

The Conservative firm of Tupper, Phippen, and Tupper of Winnipeg acted for Bedford-Jones in the
transaction. A former employee, Alexander Adams, said in a letter to Tyler and Wright on January 17,
1978, and in a interview by phone December 7, 1977, that his firm, via Frank Phippen, actually acted for
Sifton, who did not hold the land in his own name. Adams asserted that while Bedford-Jones kept the
land in his name, the real owner was Sifton. This was done precisely because Sifton was in political
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office. Sifton kept land in other names too, Adams said, but he was unable to recall which names they
were. (This was, of course, his personal opinion; there is no corroborating evidence.)

Bedford-Jones held some of the land until 1906, when it was paid for and patented in his name before it
was sold again. Tupper, Phippen, and Tupper paid some of the payments, quite possibly acting for Sifton.
Some of the title were transferred to Porter, and then back to Bedford- Jones. Porter also had some land
returned to his hands in the second transfer of title, and the titles were delivered to either Tupper,
Phippen, and Tupper, or to the firm who later represented Sifton, according to Adams, Munson, Allan
and Co. The latter firm acted as solicitors for CNOR, and one of their partners at one time was David
Laird's son-in-law.



APPENDIX E

MEDIA COVERAGE OF FERGUSON REPORTS, 1913-15

In May 1913 the Conservative government under R.L. Borden appointed Thomas Roberts Ferguson as a
Royal Commissioner to investigate abuses in the administration of natural resources in the Liberal era.
Ferguson, a lawyer from Winnipeg, was asked to investigate the sale, lease, grant, exchange or disposition
of Dominion lands, timber, minerals and water since July 1, 1896. Ferguson began to release some
preliminary results within months, inciting some fear from both Clifford Sifton and Frank Pedley. Pedley
resigned as DSGIA on October 11, 1913, which was accepted "without prejudice” to any legal action which
might be taken against him. Some of the press coverage surrounding his resignation is included below.
Pedley was named in two "scandals" when the report was released, the sale of Moose Mountain lands and
the Blood grazing leases, but was never prosecuted. Sifton escaped unscathed; may of his associates,
especially in the timber business, were named, but his involvement was not explored. J.D. McGregor, his
partner in the Milk River Cattle Company, was named in some controversies, as were Adamson and Turiff.
Frank Oliver was attacked on two matters, one concerning railway patronage and his newspaper, and the
other pertaining to his acquisition of Indian lands in the Michael land sales.

Ferguson went about his work by examining internal files and conducting interviews with key people. In
April 1915 a series of reports were tabled in the House, resulting in a lengthy debate. The debate, much of
which describes the allegations in the reports, has of course been retained, but the reports themselves, and
the supplementary interviews and files, have not been located. The reports included:

"Timber Berths 550 and 528, Howard Douglas, R.E.A. Leach, D.J. McDonald, and others."

"The Kananaskis Coal Company, Howard Douglas, George Hunter, Walter Garrett, and others."

"Blood Indian Reserve and Frank Pedley."

"Southern Alberta Land Company, Ltd., and Grand Forks Cattle Company,
J.D. McGregor, Arthur Hotcake, and others."

"The Bulletin Company, Limited, the Honourable Frank Oliver, and the Grand Trunk Pacific
Railway Company."

"Aloin Irrigation Tract, E.A. Robert, and J.D. McGregor."

"Timber Berths 1107 and 1108, W.H. Nolan, A.W. Fraser, and J.G. Turiff."
"Grazing Ranch No. 2422, J.G. Turiff, A.J. Adamson, and J.D. McGregor."
"Craven Dam, Walter Scott, Lieutenant-Governor Brown, and J.G. Turiff."

The media coverage, in which the major newspapers ran essentially the same stories, summarized the content
of the reports. Some of those articles are reproduced below.
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EXTRACTS
Media Coverage: Ferguson Commission Findings, 1913-1915
Ottawa Evening Journal, September 15, 1913

“Graft Revelations May Lead to Dismissal of Government Employees”
Startling disclosures enquiry as to natural resources charges of maladministration are so serious that
prosecution in courts may - follow report covers long period.

Revelations of a startling character are understood to be a contained in an interim report made by
Mr. T.R. Ferguson, K.C. who was appointed about 6 months ago to probe administration and disposal of the
natural resources of the Dominion since the accession of the Liberal to Power in 1896.

While the report made by Mr. Ferguson is necessarily of a private character, and no official
pronouncement as to its contents can yet be obtained. The Journal learns from an authoritative source that
it brings to light evidence of graft in the disposal of valuable lands and resources which directly implicates
several well known government officials who are in the Interior Department.

So serious are these charges it is said that the officials concerned may not only be immediately
dismissed from office but are also liable to prosecution from the courts.

No action it is learned, will be taken until the return from the West of Honourable Dr. Roche,
Minister of Interior, when it is expected that officials will be summarily discharged, and revelations of a
sensational character made public.

Toronto Daily News, October 13, 1913

“Head of Indian Affairs Resigns Rich Ottawa Post”
Mr. Frank Pedley no longer in civil service following probe into conduct of his department -
Mr. Duncan Campbell Scott, Poet and Author, named as his successor.

As aresult of the inquiry of T.R. Ferguson, K.C., into the alienation of the public domain under the
Laurier regime, Frank Pedley, who has been superintendent of Indian Affairs since 1902, handed in his
resignation on Saturday. His resignation was at once accepted and Duncan Campbell Scott, the well-known
Canadian poet and author, who has been connected with the department since 1893, and has a splendid
record for integrity and ability, has been appointed in his place.

No surprise to Ottawa. The announcement did not come as a surprise to Ottawa, as it has been
common knowledge in the capital that the preliminary report submitted by Mr. Ferguson involved Mr. Pedley
in some serious rake-ups in connection with the administration of Indian lands in the West. It is expected that
there will be several other resignations and possibly some prosecutions. The evidence in the Pedley case has
been placed in the hands of the Justice Department and whether there are sufficient grounds for prosecution
had not been decided to-day.

While the report of Mr. Ferguson has not yet been made public owing to the fact that there is another
official involved whose case has not yet been investigated, it is understood on the highest authority that the
evidence taken by Mr. Ferguson sowed that Mr. Pedley trafficked in grazing leases on Indian lands.

Foresee more revelations. This report of Mr. Ferguson's is but a preliminary one and it is expected
that there will be still further startling revelations of Liberal graft before he completes his inquiry. Mr.
Ferguson is at present in Saskatchewan investigating some deals in which it is alleged J.G.Turiff, M.P., is
involved.

Mr. Pedley, who has resigned, is a native of Newfoundland, but to came to Canada when eight year
of'age. He was educated at Cobourg Collegiate Institute and McGill University and practised law in Toronto
form 1890-1897, when has was made superintendent of immigration for Canada, organizing the system of
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immigration at present in operation in Canada. He was transferred to the Indian Department in 1902, being
made deputy superintendent of Indian Affairs, a position he has held until his resignation on Saturday.

Mr. Scott man for the job. The anxiety of the government to re-organize the Indian Department and
to place it on a better basis is shown by the appointment of Duncan Campbell Scott as Mr. Pedley's successor.
Mr. Scott, in addition to being one of Canada's best known writers, has been a member of the Civil service
since 1879, and since 1893 has been chief accountant of the Indian Department and has the necessary
knowledge and sympathy which is required for the successful conduct of the important branch.

Mr. Scott is one of Canada's leading literary lights and is the author of some excellent poetry. His
chief poetical volumes are the Magic House and Labor and the Angels. His was joint editor with Dr. Pelham
Edgar of the Makes of Canada series and wrote the Life of Simcoe in that series. He is the author of
numerous short stories and poems in Canadian and American magazines.

Mail and Empire, April 12, 1915

“Traffic Revealed in Federal Lands”
Hundred of Homesteads given away during Oliver regime Fraudulent Entries.
Commissioner T.R. Ferguson, of Winnipeg, Reports Findings.

Grave irregularities in the administration of Dominion lands under Honourable Frank Oliver are disclosed
in reports brought down in the House of Saturday. The reports contain the findings of T.R. Ferguson, of
Winnipeg, in two cases which were investigated by him as special commissioner to enquire into the
alienation of Dominion lands by the Laurier Government.

The commissioner finds charges proven against Robert A. Cruise, Liberal M.P. for Dauphin,
Manitoba, and W.A. Davis, a forest ranger, in one case, and he finds in another that Frank Pedley, of Ottawa,
former Deputy Superintendent of Indian Affairs, was personally interested while still in that capacity, in a
grazing lease on the Blood reserve, situated near McLeod, Alberta.

In 1906, during the Oliver regime, the boundaries of the Riding Mountain forest reserve, in
Manitoba, were definitely determined, and it was decided the squatters on lands within the new boundaries
should be moved to other homesteads. The commissioner finds that the work of supervising this removal was
entrusted to W.A. Davis, forest ranger, and that a large number of the new homesteads were given away of
fraudulent entries with his approval.

Mr. Ferguson finds that one of these entries, for the South-east quarter, section 32 [sic], township
23, range 19, west of the first meridian, was made by Robert A. Cruise, now member for Dauphin, who has
represented himself as a squatter. Davis, it is found, gave away hundreds of quarter-sections to his friends.

The charge against Cruise was that at this time, June 1907, he had not been a squatter, Mr. Ferguson
finds this charge proven. In order to patent it, it was necessary for him to be the owner of 20 head of cattle.
He had only 13. Ferguson finds that he made a fictitious bargain with a squatter in his vicinity for the transfer
of seven heads of cattle, the consideration being a promissory note, and the cattle being returned and note
restored after the patent obtained. The report states that Cruise was not the bona fide owner of these cattle
and that the patent was obtained on an improper representation of the facts, made in writing.

Had minister's approval. Davis in his examination by Ferguson, it is stated, admitted that Cruise was
not a squatter. Cruise himself admitted never having lived on the land, but he and four other men has erected
the walls of a log shanty, which had remained without a roof.

The report shows the absolute authority was given to Davis by Honourable Frank Oliver, who, in
October 1907, instructed Oliver Herchmer, the Dauphin land agent, to "give entry of odd numbered sections
in township 23, range 27, on orders of W.A. Davis, if declared available by head office."
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Davis, it is found, had two assistants in his operations, Albert McLeod and Sam Cohen, both at that
time employees of the department. Hundreds of entries were allowed, from 60 per cent to 80 per cent of them
being fraudulent. Davis' own evidence was that 40 per cent of them were bona-fide, but Herchmer had
testified that only 20 per cent were bona-fide. The latter official had given Mr. Ferguson a partial list of
entries amounting to 307.

The evidence quoted in the report contains a remarkable frank story by Davis himself. He used
typewritten forms, which were taken around by this assistants to their friends, filled in, and then he signed
them. McLeod, it was stated, "made himself quite slick and nice" to his friends in this way. Davis explained
that he signed these orders "for the sake of the party,". Cohen, he said, "was a rattling good worker and he
would let no opportunity slide if he could benefit the party."

Attention is drawn in the report to the fact that Mr. Oliver retained the man, Davis, in the employ
of his department after the unreliability of his reports had become known in the department.

In June 1903, Mr. Fitzroy Dixon, a departmental official recommended against extending the powers
of Davis because his reports were not reliable. In order to have his work looked into, the department
delegated Mr. R.E.A. Leech [sic], of "Thin Red Line" fame, to investigate. Leech reported that everything
was all right. The officials of the department were not satisfied. Leech investigated again and reported that
Davis had done "the right thing".

Traffic in Grazing Rights. The second report, dealing with the grazing privileges on the Blood
Reserve, states that in 1903 a number of applications for these privileges were made. Among the names on
the department file is that of J.F. McLaughlin, of Toronto with whom was associated Mr. Charles Miller,
barrister, of Toronto. A cattle company formed this case, it is stated, and a foreman engaged.

Another application was put in by the Ottawa law firm of Latchford McDougall and Daly on behalf
on Donald McEwen, but, really, it is alleged, on behalf of Mr. Peter Ryan of Toronto. The report states that
one sixth interest in grazing privilege was assigned by Mr. Ryan to Mr. Pedley, and was held in trust for
Pedley by Mr. A.C. Bedford Jones, a Toronto barrister, for four years. It was then sold to Mr. Charles Millar
for a thousand dollars, the money being paid to Mr. Pedley, less one hundred dollars for the legal expenses.
Mr. Ferguson finds that there is on the departmental files an agreement dated December, 1903, between Peter
Ryan and Donald McEwen on the one hand and Messrs. Gordon, Ironsides and Fares, of Winnipeg, on the
other, the latter firm agreeing to stock the reserve for ten years (this life of the lease.)

After certain details were carried out, the shares of the parties were to be divided forty per cent of
the profits going to Ryan and McEwen and sixty to Gordon, Ironsides and Fares. The report states that Pedley
denied that Jones had acted as his trustee. Mr. Pedley and Mr. Ryan, in their examinations, contradicted one
another on material points, but Mr. Ryan it is stated, admitted being the owner of the lease. These reports
brought down on Saturday are the first of a series. Mr. Ferguson was appointed in June 1913 to investigate
the alienation of the public domain and public resources under the late Administration and the coming reports
are said to contain very startling revelations.

Toronto Daily News, April 12, 1915

"Homesteads Given Out on Fraudulent Applications: Pretty State of Affairs under Liberal Regime just
Brought to Light; Mr. Pedley Deals Himself one hand; It Was a Good One Interested in Reserve Grazing
Privileges."

Part of the report of Mr. T.R. Ferguson, K.C., who was appointed by the Governor to investigate the
alienation of the public domain in Western Canada under the administration of the Liberals, was laid on the
table of the House Saturday afternoon. The report deals only with the grazing lease on the Blood Indian
Reserve, and with the allocating of homesteads in the Dauphin district the time Honourable Frank Oliver was
Minister of the Interior.
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One Liberal member of Parliament, Mr. Robert Cruise, member of Dauphin, is seriously involved
by the report, while Honourable Frank Oliver, that sturdy tribune of the people, who only this week accused
the Government of trying to steal the election through giving the soldiers votes, is placed in a most
unenviable position. Homesteads were granted wholesale in the Dauphin district to fiends of the Liberals by
fraudulent means. Mr. Fitzroy [sic], Assistant Land Commissioner, drew the attention of the Minister of what
was going on and expressed suspicion of the operations of one, W.A. Davis, Chief Forest Ranger for the
Riding Mountains at the time. Mr. Oliver delegated R.E.A. Leach, of "thin red line" fame, to investigate. He
reported that everything was all right.

It is stated that the member for Dauphin represented himself as a "squatter" on the southeast quarter
of Section 22, Township 23, Range 19, and which forms part of the Riding Mountain Reserve in the Dauphin
district. The evidence shows conclusively that Mr. Cruise was not a "squatter" and that he obtained his
homestead by fraud, and with the connivance of Mr. Davis, Chief Forest Ranger.

Cruise, in his evidence, admits that he never lived on the land in question, that his home was miles
away, and that for years prior to, and subsequent to 1907, he had lived on the same farm, which is near
Dauphin.

Davis, in his evidence, also stated that Cruise was not a "squatter" and not entitled to file on his
homestead.

The Commissioner also finds that Mr. Cruise was not the owner of all the cattle mentioned in the
memorandum filed on his behalf, and that he obtained his patent on an "improper representation" of the facts.

The ownership of at least twenty head of cattle was necessary in order to qualify for a patent, and
Mr. Cruise only owned thirteen at the time. He effected a deal with a neighbour who owned seven head
cattle, and gave a promissory note for them. Both the cattle and note were returned after they had served the
fraudulent purpose of the member for Dauphin. The residence [sic] shows that Mr. Oliver, during one of his
visits to Dauphin, gave Mr. Herchmer, the Dominion Lands Agent at the point, instructions to grant whatever
applications were signed by Davis, so long as the "head office" stated that they were available.

Mr. Herchmer, in his evidence, stated that he knew that many of the applications sent in by Davis
were fraudulent, but said that he had no option but to grant them.

Mr. Davis also frankly admitted that he knew that hundreds of the applications sent in by him were
fraudulent, and that he allowed himself to be "used for the benefit of the party" in this matter. Mr Davis has
a couple of assistants in Albert McLeod and Sam Cohen. In order to facilitate the work of Mssrs. McLeod
and Cohen, who were described by Mr. Davis as being "very slick and capable workers," he signed a number
of applications in blank and handed them over to his understudies.

Davis swore that he knew that both McLeod and Cohen were sending in applications of men who
were not squatters at all, and who had no shadow claim or right to these homesteads. Still, for the good of
the party, he let them continue their work.

Incredible as it may seem, Mr. Davis, when examined as to what percentage of the recommendations
made for homestead entries were bona fide, stated that about sixty per cent of them in his opinion were
fraudulent. Mr Herchmer, at that time Dominion Lands agent at Dauphin, estimated the fraudulent entries
as high as eighty per cent of the total.

An idea of the magnitude of these frauds is obtained when it is borne in min that literally hundreds
of these applications were turned in.

If the alleged squatter was a Liberal, or if three musketeers of Dauphin thought that a party benefit
could be derived from the transaction, he got the homestead. The party test was apparently the only test
applied.

Mr Ferguson points out that notwithstanding the fact the Minister's attention had been drawn by one
of the official of his department to the suspicious work of Davis his services were sustained by Mr. Oliver
for several years, and, in fact, until the Government was changed.



558 / First Nation Land Surrenders on the Prairies, 1896-1911

Mr. R.E.A. Leach was delegated by the department to investigate the work of Davis, and he reported
that he found everything all right. The department official whose suspicions had been aroused in the first
place, was not satisfied with Mr. Leach's first report, and he had him go a second time and look into the
matter. Mr. Leach again found that Mr. Davis had done the right thing, although the evidence must have been
before them of the fraudulent character of a large majority of these squatters' applications.

After Leach's second report, Mr. Fitzroy Dixon, assistant Commissioner of Dominion lands, the
official whose suspicions had been aroused, evidently came to the conclusion that it was useless for him to
go to any further lengths in the matter.

The second division of Commissioner Ferguson's volume has to do with the grazing privileges on
the Blood Indian Reserve near McLeod, Alberta, and the connection therewith of Mr. Frank Pedley, who,
at the time of the transaction in question was engineered, occupied the important position of Deputy
Superintendent General of Indian Affairs. The essential facts of the case briefly stated are as follows: In the
year 1903, several applications were made for the grazing purposes [sic] on the Blood Reserve, on the
applications on file in the department was made in December, 1902, by J.F. McLaughlin, of Toronto, who
had associated him with Charles Miller, barrister, Toronto. This application was pressed, and it is cleared
from the evidence that they interviewed Pedley in connection with it, and had reason to be hopeful that it
would be granted. They organized a cattle company and engaged a foreman to look after their interests.

However, Mr. Pedley has other plans. An application was made in April, 1903, on behalf of Donald
McEwen, by a firm of Ottawa solicitors. In reality it was made for Mr. Peter Ryan of Toronto.

Mr. Pedley was still Deputy Superintendent General of Indian Affairs, and became, as the evidence
conclusively shows, the beneficial owner of a one-sixth interest in the Blood Reserve privilege by virtue of
an assignment of the same to him by Peter Ryan.

The sixth per cent interest was apparently held in trust for Mr. Pedley by A.A. Bedford-Jones, a
lawyer of Toronto, for a period of four years, when, with the knowledge and approbation of Pedley, it was
sold to Charles Miller for the sum of one thousand dollars, which money was paid over to Frank Pedley. Mr
Jones retained the sum of one hundred dollars for looking after the legal affairs. The connection of Peter
Ryan with the deal is definitely established by various agreements which are in departmental files. One of
these agreements dated December, 1902, is between Peter Ryan and Donald McEwen as parties of the first
part, and Messrs. Gordon, Ironsides and Fares of Winnipeg, parties of the secont part. The latter firm agreed
to stock the reserve for ten years, the life of the lease, and after certain payments and arrangements were
carried out the shares of the respective parties in the profits were to divided as follows: Forty per cent, to
Ryan and McEwen and sixty per cent, to Messrs. Gordon, Ironsides, and Fares.

The evidence of Mr. Pedley is very contradictory. In the end he admitted having received the
thousand dollars which was paid for the one-sixth interest, but refused to admit that Mr. Jones had been
acting as trustee for him.

Toronto Daily News, April 14,1915

"Liberals are Implicated in the Alienation of Western Lands; Got Indian Lands at 'Job Lot' Prices; Three
Departmental Officials, Assisted by a Toronto Lawyer, Made Big Profits by Dealing in Moose Mountain
Reserve - They Themselves Tendered on Lands."

Three Government officials, one still in the employ of the Department of Interior, are involved in a report
made by Mr. T.R. Ferguson. K.C. , and laid on the table of the House yesturday. The three men mentioned
are James Smart, former Deputy Minister of the Interior; Mr. Frank Pedley, former Superintendent of Indian
Affairs, and Mr. W.J. White, at present an inspecting officer of the Immigration Department.
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Mr. Ferguson, in his report finds that these three men, while in the employ of the Government, dealt
in Indiand lands. They acquired these lands by tender at a time when their positions would naturally give
them an advantage in tendering. The property in which they dealt was the land of the Moose Mountain Indian
Reserve. The evidence shows that several hundred blank tenders were prepared at Ottawa and taken to
Toronto by Messrs. Smart and Pedley, where they were filled in and forwarded back to Ottawa, all but eight
or ten being successful. Mr. Ferguson places the profits made by the three men at no less than $84,000.

The report on top of the disclosures already made of maladministration of public domain in the West
under the Liberals, bears out to the full the serious charge made by the Conservatives when they were in
Opposition, but which the Liberals refused to permit to be investigated. The action of the government to-day
in permitting and pressing for the fullest inquiry into the war contracts is in striking contrast of the methods
of the two Administrations.

The Commissioner states that while conducting the investigation into the Blood Indian Reserve he
learned that Mr. Pedley, at that time Deputy Superintendent General of Indian Affairs, together with Mr. W.J.
White, then, and in fact now, in the Government service as an Inspector of Immigration, and Mr. James A.
Smart, Deputy Minister of the Interior, had formed a partnership for the purpose of acquiring and selling,
and did acquire and sell, portions of certain Indian Reserves, which were offered for sale by the Government
by tender at a time when all these three gentlemen were occupying positions in the service of the Dominion
Government. The sworn evidence of the three accused substantiates beyond all doubt the truth of the charges.

Mr. A.C. Bedford-Jones, a Toronto lawyer, who acted for Mr. Pedley in the Blood Indian Reserve
transaction, was also brought into service for these deals.

A declaration of trust entered into between the three officials cited that it was deemed inexpedient
to tender in their own name for the lands they were desirous of acquiring, and that they procure Allan [sic]
Bedford-Jones to tender for them, and to hold the same for them.

Mr Bedford-Jones in his turn secured other instruments actually to put in the tenders.

The first tender was made on November 14, 1901, and the gentlemen secured by Mr. Jones to put
in the tenders were R.B. Beaumont [sic], G.W. Marsh, and C.E.MacKenzie, of Toronto.

The Commissioner finds that the eivdence conclusively shows that three or four hundred bland
tenders were prepared at the city of Ottawa and brought from Ottawa to Toronto by Messrs. Smart and
Pedley, or one of them, and then the respective descriptions and the amount tendered on each quarter section
were filled in at Mr. Jones' office in the city of Toronto, on November 13, 1901. A cheque in some instances
and a Dominion Express order in other instances accompanied each tender. Three or four hundred tenders
were all successful with the exception of some eight or ten.

These tenders were for lands in the Moose Mountain Reserve. The report and the analysis of tenders
accompanying it, and the evidence of W.A. Orr, show that prior to the receiving of the tenders, two reports
had been made as to the value of these lands. These reports were in the department and available to Mr.
Smart, as Deputy Superintendent General of Indian Affairs. Mr. Smart in his evidence, states that he was not
aware of it. Nevetheless they were there for his examination and available for his guidance when he was
making the tender on behalf of himself and Pedley and White, and Mr. Orr swears that they were not open
to the inspection of the public, which would include other persons making tenders.

Mr. Smart, in his evidence, admitted that he prepared the three statements which were produced later
from the evidence of Mr. Bedford-Jones, showing the figures upon which they based the amount which they
had decided to offer for each quarter section. The tenders for Moose Mountain Lands were open on or about
the 15th November, 1901, by Mr. Orr and J.D.McLean, Mr. Smart was not present.

At the time of the making of the tender on the Moose Mountain reserves, Mr. Smart was Deputy
Superintendent General of Indian Affairs. Mr. Pedley was Superintendent of Immigration, and Mr. White
was Inspector of Immigration. The erea of land purchased in connection with the Moose Mountain reserves
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was slightly over 45,000 acres. The purchased [sic] price of Messrs. Smart, Pedley, and White on their
tenders was $54,850. The land was sold by them on April 18, 1903, for $112,500, or at profit of $57,150.

The profits on the other Indian lands which they purchased in 1901 were $8,155 on the
Chacastapaysin lands, $18,000 on lands known as the Reserve #100, or $84,335 in all. These lands have all
been paid for by the people to whom they were sold by Smart, Pedley, and White, with the exception of about
$1,000.

In connection with Chacastapsin lands, the Commissioner draws special attention to a memorandum
by James A. Smart, which reads as follows:

"The Department of Indian Affairs, Canada, Ottawa, November 14, 1901.
Memorandum, Mr. McLeod:

I expect to be away for a few days. Regarding the tenders for Chacastapaysin lands and
Moose Mountain reserves, you have better open them with one of the officials, and prepare
a statement with report recommending the highest tenders in each case. The tenders of
course must be in accordance with the notice of tender. I advise you to extend the time for
the Chacastapasin for a week. The others can be arranged at once.

Signed, J.A. Smart, Deputy Superintendent-General.

The Commissioner points out that if the extension of time for the opening of the tenders had not been made
Messrs. White, Smart, and Pedley could not have put in tenders, as they had not done so up to November 14,
nor had aneyone put in tenders on their behalf. Mr. Smart at first denied the authenticity of this
memorandum, but later admitted that it had appenrently emanated from him. The tenders for the
Chacastapasin reserve were put in by J.W. Smith, while those for Reserve 100 were signed by A.S. Menary,
a young lady, who was a stenographer in the office of Marsh and Marsh, in Toronto. At the time the latter
tenders were put in there had been a change in the positions respectively of Messrs. Pedley and Smart, no
doubt their zeal on behalf of the public was deemed deserving of recognition. Mr. Pedley had been moved
from the position of Superintendent of Immigration to that of Deputy Superintendent General of Indian
Affairs. Mr. Smart had been appointed to the position of Deputy Minister.

Pedly, together with Orr and McLean, were present when Reserve 100 tenders were opened.

The Commissioner calls attention to the fact that while Pedley kept two bank accounts, he did not
deposit the considerable amounts of money received by him from these ventures in either account, but kept
it in his pocket or in a safe at home.

During the year 1903 these three gentlemen had a company incorporated for the purpose of handling
their land deals and the Commissioner caustically remarks that one would well understand the following
extract from one of their cicular:

We have exceptional facilities for dealing with Government lands and acting as
Parliamentary Agents for same.

The Commissioner states that he had not considered the legal liability of these three gentlemen, but he had
no hesitation in saying tha their actions, owing to the fact that they are all in the service of the Government
of Canada, were highly improper. He recommends that some course should be adopted, if possible, whereby
officers holding positions in the Department cannot purchase or deal in, or acquire lands as was done by these
three gentlemen, in competition with the public.

With reference to W.J.While, the only one of the three who is still in the employ of the Government, the
Commissioner finds that Mr. White while travelling about in connection with his duties as an officer in the
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service, improperly devoted his time and attention to the effecting of the sale of the lands which he and his
associates had purchased; that he improperly availed himself of the opportunities afforded to him as an
Immigration Officer of placing these lands for sale with various real estate brokers and other whom he
considered might sell or dispose of the same; and that among those with whom he placed these lands were
other officers or employes [sic] in the service of the Government of Canada, nearly all of them having offices
or places of business in the United States.
The Commissioner takes the ground that necessarily there must have been a conflict between

Mr. White's personal interests and the duties which he owed to the Government of Canada.

Ottawa Evening Journal, April 15, 1915

"A Tract 0f 28,000 Acres of Grazing Land Granted - No Application made; Commissioner Ferguson's Report
Shows that Mr. J.G. Turiff, Liberal M.P., was Involved in Land Deal; Entered Application Which Was Not
Made; Lieutenant Governor Brown, of Saskatchewan, secured 1,000 Acres at $1 per Acre, Afterwards
Expropriated at $25.

The balance of T.R. Ferguson's report which was laid on the table yesterday afternoon was replete with
sensations in addition to those which have already been published.

Honourable Frank Oliver and Robert Cruise, M.P., have been seriously involved in the revelations
already made, but in the matter of a grazing lease in Southern Alberta, J.G. Turiff, at present Liberal M.P.
for Assiniboia, is involved although has was not a member of Parliament at the time, the deal was pulled off.

In this case, the nominal applicant for the lease was H.P. Brown, Great Falls, Montana; the real
applicant was J.D. McGregor, of Brandon, Manitoba, and the beneficiary, A.J. Adamson, of Winnipeg,
Manitoba.

J.G. Turiff, a brother-in-law of A.J.Adamson, was at the time Land Commissioner of the Department
of Interior, at Ottawa and voluntarily increased the acreage of the lease granted, from 32,000 acres to 60,000
acres, an unasked for increase of 28,000 acres. Not only that but a closed irrevocable lease was granted,
although not asked for.

The nominal applicant for this lease had no knowledge that he had been granted an area of 28,000
acres more than he had asked for, until he was informed of the fact by Commissioner Ferguson. Not only did
he not know, but he had assigned his right to the grazing lease before the same was granted.

The application for the ranch was first put in on May 26, 1902, and the evidence is that the lands
described in the application aggregate a total of about 32,000 acres. This is the only application ever received
by the Department.

H.P. Brown, in his evidence, swore that when he was in Ottawa on or about May, 1902, he met James
D. McGregor, of Brandon, and Mr. McGregor asked him if he would allow him to use his mane in applying
for a grazing lease in Canada. McGregor gave as a reason that personally, he held about all the land that he
was legally entitled to. Brown acceded to the request. This was on May 26, 1902. Brown had no further
dealings relative to the application but on September 17, 1903, an assignment of his right to the ranch was
sent to him by mail by McGregor, and he executed it. He swore that he had never seen the assignment until
he received it from McGregor, and it went into the possession of Adamson on or about the month of
September, 1903.

Some months after receiving the assignment and during 1904, A.J.Adamson, caused to be
incorporated, through his solicitor, G.E. McCraney, M.P., a company known as the Galway Horse and Cattle
Co., and the name of that company was written into the blank assignment, and other blans filled in. In this
way the company became the holder of the application.

The Commissioner calls attention to the fact that the Galway Horse and Cattle Co., Ltd., acquired the
tract without paying anything for it. It cost nothing, and after holding it, and paying one instalment of rental
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to the Dominion Government, amounting to $650, it was sold about March, 1906, to one John Cowdry, of
Macloed, Alberta, for the sum of $22,500 without having been used or stocked in any way.

Mr. Adamson, in his evidence, swears that early in 1903, he came to the conclusion that he would
not complete the application for these lands. Commissioner Ferguson remarks that this date is
contemporaneous with the increase in acreage.

The Commissioner finds that the evidence shows conclusively that neither J.D. McGregor nor
H.P. Brown had anything whatever to do with the increase in the acreage from 32,000 to 60,000 acres.

Although neither Brown nor McGregor was taking any interest in this application in March 1903,
Mr. Turiff placed a memorandum upon the file to this effect:

In January last, H.P. Brown made application to have township 13 and that part of township
14, west of the Bow River, added to his former application for a grazing lease. Please have
it added and included and also have a memorandum to council prepared.

J.G. Turiff, Commissioner.

The Commissioner finds that Mr. Brown never made any such application; he never gave instructions or
authorized Mr. Turiff or anyone else to make the statement contained in the memorandum. This is Brown's
sworn evidence.

McGregor swore that the first knowledge he had of the increase acreage he obtained from
Commissioner Ferguson.

With regard to Turiff, notwithstanding that statement contained in his memorandum, he states upon
oath that he cannot say he got those instruction from Mr. Brown, in fact he admits that it is reasonable to
assume from the evidence that he did not.

Following is an extract from the evidence of Mr. Turiff on this point:

Mr. Ferguson - "Can you tell me, as commissioner, what basis you had for putting that
memorandum on the file saying 'in January last, Mr. Brown made this application to add to
that land?"

Mr. Turiff - "No, I cannot remember now, wha--"

"You cannot? What induced you to write that memorandum?"
"I do not remember anything about it,"

"And this is the best you can tell me?"

"That is the best that I can tell you."

The Commissioner if surprised at Mr. Turiff's poor memory in connection with this transaction, particularly
as he made a trip to the ranch in company with Mr. Adamson.

The Commissioner now calls attention to the fact that it was a rule of the Department in passing an
order-in-council which is worded in such a way as permitted of the granting of such a lease as might be
decided on in the Department.

The Commissioner devoted some attention to the action of the Department in passing and
order-in-council which is worded in such a way as permitted of the granting of such a lease as might be
decided on in the Department.

The Commissioner notes that this order is notable in several ways. One of them is that it is the same
order by which they afterwards discussed, closed, irrevocable grazing leases of James D. McGregor, on
another tract altogether, and of Arthur Hotcake of Moose Jaw, also upon another tract were allowed [sic].
Those latter leases are referred to in the Southern Alberta Land Co.
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The Commissioner directs attention to another new departure in this extraordinary lease. When Mr.
Adamson sent in his assignment and cheque to the Department there was more than $2,400 rental due.
However, it was never paid, nor demaded. The evidence also goes to show that Honourable Frank Oliver,
the Minister, knew that these arrears were due.

The Commissioner in summing up, finds that through laxity a concession of 28,000 acres of grazing
lands was granted when there was no applicant for it. A twenty-one year closed irrevocable lease was
granted, whereas only a twenty-one year closed lease was applied. There was the laxity relative to the posting
of proper notices calling for protest against the proposed lease. Finally, there was the neglect to collect
$2.,400 as arreas of rental.

In the matter of Craven Dam, Walter Scott, George W. Brown and J.G. Turiff and Dominion lands,
the evidence discloses that three different parcels of land embracing 1,000 acres, more or less, were applied
for by George W. Brown, at present Lieutenant-Governor of the Province of Saskatchewan. They afterwards
received some notoriety by reason of proceedings in the Exchequer Court of Canada, on a petition of right
and by reason of expropriation of proceedings instituted by the Government of the Dominion of Canada,
upon the occasion of the construction of what is known as the"Carven Dam", at the south end of Long Lake,
in the Province of Saskatchewan.

The Commissioner finds that the evidence showns that the relationship existing between
J.G. Turiff, then land commissioner, the said George W. Brown, and Walter Scott, now Premier of the
Province of Saskatchewan, was such that the land commissioner unhesitatingly acceded to the request made
by W. Scott on behalf of Mr. Brown for lands which is some instances Brown could not himself obtain from
the department. The evidence, according to the commissioner, also shows that in acceding to the request
made Walter Scott on behalf of Mr. Brown for lands which in some instances Brown could not himself obtain
from the department. The evidence, according to the commissioner, also shows that in acceding to the request
made by Walter Scott the rights of the other persons were disregarded. Further, that Mr. Scott did not hesitate
to use his political influence in Mr. Brown's behlaf, and succeeded where the latter failed.

This is in every respect a very remarkable transaction.

It was clearly shown in evidence before the commissioner that his one thousand acres of land was
acquired by the Browns from the Government at $1 an acre, and the balance acquired by the application of
half-breed scrip.

In writing to Walter Scott asking him to procure these lands for him, George W. Brown, represented
that they were of very small value; 518 acres he says are submerged by the waters of Long Lake and the
remaining 122 acres being worthless land, gravelly and stony. It is only on occasional years that the crops
amount to anything.

The letter was written on April 24, 1900, at Regina, yet in January, 1906, when the Crown proceeded
with the construction of the dam at Craven, Saskatchewan, and required this land, it had risen in value,
according to Mr. Brown, to $100 an acre. The land was expropriated and the value of the lands fixed at $25
per acre, which sum, the then owner, James W. Brown as paid, although he had purchased them six years
previously at $1 an acre.

The Commissioner finds that these lands were sold without inspection by the Crown and the
Commissioner suggests that no Government lands should disposed of without reliable inspection and
valuation.

The Commissioner finds that the land secured by Mr. Brown had been improperly held for him at
the request of Walter Scott, although other applications came in to them.

The officers of the Department were entirely in the dark as to whom these lands were being for, but Mr.
Turiff knew, as is proven by the order, which he wrote across Mr. Goodeve's memorandum.
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Surrengers of Indian lands a
shadowy and unsavory business

indian treaties remaln Canada's unfinished buslneu, a lact lh;t is being
brought to the fore by an Incrensing sumber of Indian erganizations. .

The most ad d of these organtzations, at least on the Prairies, s the Fed-
eration of Saskatchewan Indians (FSI) and Leader-Post repotter Lindsay ‘rny-

During mmmx period of settle-
. menton the Prairies, Indian bands *‘sur
dored ' more than 620,008 acres —

for spent the last two months interviewing FSY rep ]
and other experts in preparing these storles on various aspects of the issue.

The F51 is devoting a considerable amount oftime and resources to place this
unfinished business before the federal government,

Native lenders are basing thelr. hopes for future economic and sncial
development on land settlements — tra- .
ditiona) land claime in areas where ’
treaties were never signed, fulfillment
of those treatles which were signed and -
surrenders, or alienation, of large
tracts of Nidlan land by the govern-
ment, often uslng dublous means. i
.. Land claims are an historic reality,
dating from the Roya$ Proctamation of
1763 which provided for the protection

. of indian lands from settlers until such
time as the Indian rights to the land had
. been assigned to e Crown, ...

- The treaties covered Indian penplel
in- Ontario, the. Pralrie Provinces, the
Northwest Territories and parts of Brw
ish Columbla. There are large areas of
. Canada where no (reaties were ever

.. igned and areas where treaties wore
-signed only recently, suchb as James
- Bay in Quebec where traditional lands

. were-vested In the Crown for certain

* rights and priviloges such as cash, eco-

. nomic development and adiacent land,
In many sreas such ag the Prairies,

Llnduy Taylor . '

the‘treat)es which were signed were nover falfilled.
Treaties covering Saskatchewan, Alborta and parts of Munltoba nmvklul
for grants of land fotalling 640 acres for each tamily of five, or 128 acres for
. _each band member, That land in many Instances — 15 of which are folly recog. .
nized and docuraented in Saskaichewan — was never handed over and remaing
to-be provided by either the federal government or the provinee.

‘The third claim of unitnished busl being made by
concerns the propriety and legality surrounding tracts of land which “surren-
dered" 10 the Crown in return for e“ber cash or In exehnnge !or otber tracts o!
* lJess valuable land, - Lo L
’l'beFSlhasapeMthelanthreeyura igating 4 s relat] to
these surrenders and is continuing its quest to prove that the Canadi: . gw-

i Iully one-fifth of all reserve land on the
" Prairies — to the Government of Can-
; ada, -,

"And the nares of Smart. Pedley and
* White are mud to a increasing number of
Halns Indians.

i For there is growing evidence that thc
lhree congpired In “wholesale fraud,”
vet none of the conspirators was ever

I ught to justice and only one resigna-
tion from a senlor government position

} resulted from the criminal activities
that were destined 1o bring each slzable
pemmnl gain:

The Federauon of Saskatchewan In-
dians (F51) 13 out 10 tell the story of the
| three, dubbed “the unholy trinity” —
James A. Smart, deputy superintendent
general of Indlan affairs to November,
1 1902,/and deputy superinumdem of Im-
mlgrauon to November, 1604, Frank
| Pedley, deputy superintendent of lmmi-
- gration who succeeded Smart as the No.

P 2 man in Indian affairs until forced from
““office in 1913; and, William J. White, an

. immigration Inspector who resigned
. from government service in 1924
Main thrust of the federauon t] mo‘x;e,to

- continulng auempt to regain native tille
1o the vast tracts of surrendered prairie.
"No one I sure how much of the land
was sur | illegally, ’
corrupt officiais w| hln sir wumd
Laurler's government of the day, or to
. what levels the corruption reached. But,
+4 there are indications a number of prom- -
fient Prairie Liberals were involved in.
the fllegalities, Sir Clifford Sifton was .

- Super dent General of Indian Af-

ernment dld not act In the best Interests of Indlan people when these i
' were obtained and in many cases the fand was obtained through means em—
. rloying outnght fraud, coercion and threats, leaving further led prom-
8es.

The P8I !m 'spent more than 8200.000 1n its search for documemthn nnd the

Ottawa-based historical resparch firm of Tyler, Wright.and Danlell Limited
has put the. information together into'a comprebensive package documenting
{instances of fraud perpetrated upon Indign bands in the cerly 1000s as the gov-
ernment of the day continued its policy of rapid semement of the Ca:
. Prairles by Buropean immigrants,
The FSI and 'l’yler. Wright and Dantel] Limited eo-opented folly in mnking
H  to compile the following account of one such Instance.

fairs and Minister of the Interior- untit
1008 and the minister directly responsi-
ble for Smart, Pedley and White,

, 1t was November, 1898, and James A.
Smart was touring tho' Moose Mountaln
district of southeastern Assinibola (as

© the area was then called) keepln%s
e

sharp eye for lands sulted for rapid
ropean settlement.

- Work on the Canadian Pacific Rrjlway
. ; !



-—2.——

"Sir Wiltrid Laurler

“Into.the aroa had juat beg\m there were!
' large stands of timber and the area had
just experlented an exceptionally good
harvest. It would have been difficult to'
have found a more Ideal area-for the set-
tlement polléles of lhe administration ol
. the time,

- Simart, appointed ‘deputy minister of
‘the Interior only a year before, was Im-
mediately impressed and. enthuslastl--
cally Informed Sifton “}t occurred io me '
that iwo Indian reserves at the wost end
of the mountain, one called Pheasant's
 Rump end the other Ocean Man . . . con-,
taining altogether about 60, 000 acres of
iand, would be an excellent location for
probably 500 families of Galicians, if the .
.reserves were taken.over and the In
dians In It (sic) placed on the White Bear
reserve to !hc.enst oi the mounmn

“There are’ only ‘90 Indians, men,
women and children on these two re.
serves that ] speak of, and one to thé east
has, only about 220; and it seems ridicu-
lous to Jock up such a splendid pleoe ot'
land for so few people.”

On Dec. 3,108 Smnrt |nstruc!ed h\s
subordlnn!eﬁ within the department of
Indian affairs to ‘“take immediate steps
to see upon what terms the two Indian
reserves, ihe Phesasent’s- Rump and
Ocean Man, can revert to the govern-
ment for the use of the department of the
Interlor . . . by removal of the Indians to
lll;: easwm reserve. known as White

ar's . ..
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‘The Assinibolne bands on the two re-
serves were judged to be “self-support-
ing,” ani had thus achleved the efuslve
goal that an economy-minded govern-
ment had set for Indian bands in the
nprth west. The third hand, on the White
Bear's reserve, did-not speak the same
language as its counterparts and was
hardly likely to welcome these “new-
cs:‘onmers " This obvlously dm not deter

art,

Under the terms of the Indian Act of )
1868, the same document which virtually -
unchanged still governs the lives of Can-
ada’s slatus Indlans, a “‘surrender”
would have to. be obtalned (rom the:
bands and fair compensallon would have
1o be paid for the land, .

David Laird, the newly appolnled Ix_l—‘
dian commissioner al Winnipeg, s
gested $1 per acre be offered — a consl
erable sum at the time, being a total of
$47,000 ~ but far below the $3-per-acre
belng pald for adjacent rallv,ay lands

The 25-square mile Cl

Keqina , SAsIKattn twam -

Parliament Thomas Osborne Davis, an
embarrassment to.the government of
the day, but neverthelessa faithful party
supporter representing an important
constituency. -

Being .carehl 1o commit nuthing 1o
paper, Davis unmercifully badgered Sif-
ton and-Smart until on June 20, 1898, he
pbtained ‘an .agreement fo sell the re-
serve to an “unnamed trustee’ of a Hun..
garlan colony al a cost of $1.50 per acre.

- The significance of the sale obviously:
was not lost on Smart who was an active
pariicipant In ke negotiations. Three
days after the sale he instructed an as-’

_gistant to:r*Let me have & cpmp}ew re-

port regardlhg the Phoasant's Rump.
and Ocean Man reserves, the number of
acres and the price at which the Indlans -
agretd to sell {they never had), and any
other patticulars you can give.”

Something was in the wind...
Smart noh\;v was faced with a number of

reserve near Prince Albert, obtalm.-d
through a disputed land surrender, was

for saie to settlers at & price of $2to $2.50°
per acre-and afler six months stili re- .
mained unsold. Considering . this, it: was'.
likely that Smart woild encounter diffi-
culty In justifying the $47,000 purchase*
price.of the Pheasant's Rump and Ocean,
Man reserves 10 a government anxious-

“to sell land for settlement. .

But fate was to intercede on Smart’s
-behalf in the form of “Count™ Zoltan von
Rajcs, an Austrian-Hungarian land pro-
moter who advertised himself as a for-
mer landowner and ‘textile factory»
owner, but who lacked sufficient funds to *
b{ing his wife and Iamny 10 this “and of

enty.”

Von Rages had dubbed hlmself a jonr-

. nallst and was fravelling lhe Canadian:
" West writing a book to attract Hungar-;

lan Immigrants to the nseyet-unsemed;

Prairies, His irip was at the expense of |
, Bifton's department of the interlor. 3
1. “The Count's” journalistic talents ob-

vlously did not Impress the depmment,
Tor e was dismissed In March; 1699, But,
undaunted, while still in Ottawa he pro-.:
‘ceeded to give the press detalls of a |
grand scheme o attract hundreds of his |
fellow oountrymen onto pmtr!e home-
sleads. '

Von Rajes reappeared in Prince M—
bert In April still lacking both funds and '
settlers. He proposed to the board of
trade, which by {his time wag desperace
for settiement Into the area, that should
he recelve civic support and land ata re-’
duced cost "he could well nllevlate its
prublems

na display of clvic sp!rlt two, bonrd‘
members travelled to Ottawa and: en-
trusted the (
Reserve. o, Saskatchewan . Member of

the land, not the
least of which was obtaining the 547,000
purchase price and the fact that his.
name or that of afty person within the do-:
partment -could not appear on docu- J
menm oﬁerlng to purchase tbe land. - %

Sman Pedicy and White found the!
“Tnan to assist them in Wilbur Van Hom.
Bennett the Canadlian government im-'
imigration agent at Omaha, Neb., a sub-
ordinate who had already displayed a
Jreadiness o igrore both ethies and offi-:
‘gial regulations when it sulted his pur-
poses,. Bennett was also well connected
with several.-wealthy landowners and
bankers in the area, Including Joseph G.
Armstrong. & Canadian-born banker
who was Interested in acquiring north
west Jands for speculative purposes.

- ‘Bennett left for the Pheasant’s Rump .

‘and Ocenn-Man reserves i November,

1899, and was summoned {o Ottawa im-
mediately upon his remm to confer with
his superiors.

" fen days following his retum. a ﬂve-
page letter was sent Sliton offering to

-purchase the entire Pheasant's Rump

and Ocean Man reserves at just under 99
cents an acte, provided the purchasers
gl:ece 2 setilers on the 47,000 acre tract.

entrepreneurs further offered to es--
tablish two immigrants on the land by

‘spring, 1801, providing their offer was

accepled within the {ollowing few:
months.

The letter bon'lhe slgnatures of Arme
strong and George Frederick West,
Omaha passenger agent for & number of
American rallways and one of Bennett's
sub-agents who was belng pald on com-
mission for each settler sent to Canada.

West's signature was real enough, but
Armstrong's signature had been lorged
by Bennet.




The plan was safe enough.

Smart, Pedley, White and Bennett
would buy the land through West and re-
sell o an unknowing Armstrong at a
profit.” Department  of Indian Affairs
files were closed to public scrutiny and
the deal would be ‘‘highly recom-
mended’* by high offlcials (none other
than Smart, Pedley and White them-
selves) under Sifton, who would be ultl-
mately ible for :
the sale to cabinet,

The letter was forwarded to Oﬂawa by
Bennett, who in a covering letter at-
tested to the "lnlegri'y." prominence,”
“experlence”’ and *ability’" of the. men
said 10 be behind the project. '

- The West and (forged signature on;
Arms(rong proposal was [inally ap-
praved by all senlor people within the de.
partment by -Feb. 27, 1901, at a price of
$1.11 per acre. Only the consent of the In-
dlans to surrender, the sanction of the
Governor General In Councll and pny
[ment of me  nomey | remall\ed

I erasmt i kst

", 8ir Clifford Sitton

ey e e

Commissioner David Laird was sent
lout into the field with the expressed pur-
pose of oblaining the surrenders of;the
Pheasant’s Rump and Ocean Man re-
perves. He forwarded the completed:
forms to Ottawa March 27, 1901, with a
terse report that he experienced little
Hifficulty in obtaining the consent of the
fwobands.. . = -

Some years later, an account by Xa-
vier James McArthur, signed Feh m
1934, tellg a far different story,..
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McArihur wes the translator at the
original surrender meetings. He wrote
that while ane of the surrenders was ob-
tained, the other band was threatened
with eviction with the assistance of the

. Royal Northwest Mounted Police and i

nally forced off its land. McArthur sald
the land was sold by the s for

1Ne Leadev tosk  Kegquna 08K Miw/dm‘ Wl 31,197

been tempting but there remained the
chance that word of the letter might
reach the ears of Armstrong who was
still in the dark about the true ferms of*
the sale.

The two-man delegation was finally
dispatched home to Sourls with Smart's

more than $200.000, with the Indlan
bands recetving only $50,000 for the land
they gave up.

McArthur. sl%ned an aiﬂdavlt to that
effeot, on April 25, 1972, shortly befon
his death.

In any event, the. surrender was never
questioned .as to lts authentlcity, On
April-3, 1001, -Sifton attached his signa:
ture o8 memurundum o the Privy
Council r the
of the surrenders and salé of the ré-
serves under the terms advocated in the
West and “Armstrong™ letter. Only the
formality of cabinet approval stood be-
tween 3t and final acceptance.

Armstrong was brought to the re.
serves ihat April and following a tour
prooeededtowmuﬁgwmeenhem
veyor who was to subdivide the land. But
just ag things ssemed to he going well,
the whele scheme fell apart...

Armstrong visited Souris, & prosper
ous town south of Brandon, Man., which
was settled by ploneers from Millbrook,
Ont., Armstrong's hometown. He soon
began to boast of the “deal” he was
being offered and he even offered some!
of the townsfolk “a plece of the action.”
His talk becams genera! knowlédge and’
even mads Its way Into the newspapers.,

Armstrong’s friends were known to,be
Torles,. a fact that outraged five promi-
nent Liberals and supporters of Sifton, In
whose Manitoba constituency they re-
sided. They were convineed that they,
perhaps more than any others, fuily de-
served reward for their unwavermg pm
litical faithfulness.

The d Liberals immediatel
dispatched & deleganon 1o mieet with Sif-
ton in Ottawa, pausing only long anough
to telegraph May 10, 1801: .

“We want an interview on arrival at
Ottawa on Monday re purchase of Indian
Reserve at Moose Mountain prepared
and expect 10 close deal for five Sourls
frlends We claim Iirst consideration.
(sie).” 1

Smart and friends must have spent a
very uncomfortable two days fending off
the Sourts delegation with its cries of
outrage. Smart tried to claim the deal
was nearly complete but the delegation;
had heard otherwlse To show the )ener]

‘ Sighature's‘ B
forged" :
by same man .

from West and “Armstrong” must have

that should the five outraged
constituents submit written application
for the lands, they \nould récelve consid-
eration.

With the sale of the Pheasant’s Rump
and Ocean Man reserves in a shambles,
Smart suddenly received word from
Davis that sale of the Chekastasapasin
reserve, too, had falled due In part fo ad-
verse reaction from certain Saskatche-
wen constituents upset that Hungarians
rather than “our owh Ontario immi-

rants’ would be placed on the

and.(Saskatchewan al that time was
part of the North West Territories but
throughout this story Is referred to as
Baskatchewan for purposes nf conve-
nience.)

Wilbur Van Hom Bennett's servlcos
were cailed for once again. .

White traveiled to St. Paul, Mimn.,
meeting Bennett there and hastily sub-
mitted an offer for the Chekastasapasin
Reserve over the forged signatures of
*J. W, Mitchell” and "John C. Neeley”
of Councll-Bluffs, lowa. The true Joha N,
Neeley was a clerk in West's rallway of-

. Davis’ argued adamantly with Stiton
that the offer not be eccepted, rather
; S

“Frank Podley |

thut the land be sold in quarter sections
to his. own Saskatchewan constituents,
but Smart and White argued relentlessly
for sale {o **Mliichell and Neeley”, Stfton
approved sale to the wealthy “Ameri~
cans,” but without telling Davis, who
was again trying to sell the land. Clearly

‘a crista sltudtion was brewing, and,

again, Smart end White were thwarted.



i

Something would have to be done If the
hree government officials were to keep
ny profit from the sale of the three re-
erves out of the hands of the Sourls Lib-
rals and the Saskatchewan MP. -

On Oct. 2, 1861, Smart recommended
%o Sifton that the Jands be sold by public
tender 1o the highest bidder and the Su-

y dent f‘-""n‘ of Indlnn Aﬂnlrs
In tho meantime; winter wnx mpldly
'L;*)'pmaching and the bands’ from the
Pheasant’s Rump and Ocean Man re-.
erves had moved onto the White Bear's
eserve — minus & §5,000 retheation al-,
lowance agreed upon because
otyetbeenubletosel!thehnd Haro,
¢ommended agalnst uso of department
i\oney to provide housing funds prior to
he onset of winter, presumably as a
eved; to facllllaw qulck lenderlng ot me
an

@ g g

Smart «set the desdllne for tenderlng

bale of the three reserves at Nov. 15,

901, leaving less than seven weeks for |

he sale to be advertised in.Saskatche-
wan and Manitoba and for tenders 1o be
tecelved for opening in Ottawa. Smart
was (o be in control o( awnrdlng the wnd
Sors. B

. Under Smart s tems fur me sale‘ ead\
Pl the bids was to be accompanted by‘a:
ive per cent deposit and esch quatien
bection on the reserves must be bid for :
individually — resulting in the need for
H37 individual tenden for the thnae m-
serves. o -
Smart plaeed ambiguous advemse-
ents for the aale in only three newspa-
rs, leaving the impression that only
pue-quarter section could be bid upon,
anmg lnndeauate description of the
nds being advertised and leaving less
than three, weeks for readers fo submlt
bida s

The adver t in the Assinit
inewspaper left only eight days for the
compieied tenders to reach Ottawa - an
unlikely occurance, transponatlon belng
what it was In 1901, . ... <
The advertisement in ‘the Prknce Al-
bert paper, notifying residents of the:
“mpending"" sale, ran a scant four days
belom the close of lenders — leaving it
ty ible for wnders fo be
received momwal L

Obvlously, the confusion and problemn
sur the advemsemenu did nof
ocour accldemauy.

< they-knew that as'senlor government
officials, their iiames could not even be
remotely conhected with the fenders re-
celved for the purchase, of the three re-

Smart, Pedley and wﬂlte wem fo (ooh‘
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James A. Smant

gerves. -To this end,” “Albaf Cartwright'

Bedford-Jones of Toronto, Pedley's for-

‘mer law partner, was enlisted. He, in.

turn, arranged to hold the larid for the

three untl} it could be profitably resold. :

He arranged to have the tenders submit-
ted over the names of three other To-
ronto'lawyers: R. B. Beaumont, G. W.
Marsh. am! E.C, Mackenzle. i

’Smart Pedley and White then began
the arduous task of preparing the tend-
ers, submitting, on final count, & total of
$13 separate bids for individual quarter
sections of Jand on the Pheasant's Rump
and Ocean Man reserves. Two-govern«
ment-owned Lypewriters were employed
for the typing of the submlssions — one
normally used by Pedley. and the other
by his clerk L. M. Fortler. . ..

8o confident ‘were the conspirators,
that they did not even bother 1o purchase
thelr.own paper, the tenders were typed
on blank sheets of Depanmenl of the l.n—
tetlor stat fonery.. \

The tenders were glven to Smart who
using department records listing the
value of the land; inserted a bid price.
The whole:lot was bundled off to Bed-
ford-Jones who affixed the forged signa-
ture of one of the three Toronto lawyers.

Bedford-, Jones ‘handwriting shomed
the strafn. ~ 1 L .

On one occasion he signed “G. W;‘
March” and on another began signing’
’Bedford-Joneg’, instead of *
1t had been a bus day.

. The papers were submlued o Smart,

yrnont’ 5

~

‘the government officlal responsible for
the tendering process. R

The three senior government officials
obtained approxtmately 45,000 of a possi-
ble 47,000 acres on the Pheasant's Rump
and Ocean Man reserves, at an average
price of $1.23 per acre. Within a few
months; through immigration agents in
the U.S,, the land was sold to Americen
land speculators at $2.50 per acre, net-
Uing the three a combined profit of mure
than $57,000.

Souris Liberals also submitted blds.
but at ah “unnaturaity low” prioce as sug-
gested by Smart during their meeting in
Ottawa. They were almost completely
hoodwinked, only five of the Sourts fend-
ers having been accepled. -

The work of Smart, Pedley and White
continued with the tendering of the Che-
kastapasin Reserve, the deadline-for
which had been eanded to Nov, 22,
1901, :

Onee again, blank tender forms were
typed out, this time on lwo typewriters,

- one normatly employed by Smart, him-

self. The bid prices were. filled by hand,
:Sale _
... of reserves
ven shambles

again uslng values lrom government
files, ‘and the 128 tenders were given
Bodford-Jones for signature.

' This time, Bedford-Jones was assisted
by J. W, mith, a travelling salesman’
who restded at his boarding house.

‘When the. Chekastapasin bids were
opened the three men had obtained 8,683
acres out of a possible 14,864 actes at an.
average price of $1.43 per acre. This
{and, too, was resold within three
wmonths at a price of $2.50 per acre —net-
ting the three more than $8,000.

y-A. Huber, & retired divector of the
taboratorles and identification services
branch of the RCMP crime lab in Ro-
gina, now llvlng in Ottawn, has deter-
mined that 813 of the tenders submitted
for the Pheasant’s Rump and Ocean
Man reserves, and 127 ténders submitied
for the purchase of the Ck
merve. were prepared on four type-
writers normaliy used in the department
of Indlan Atiatrs during that perlod, .

Huber also concluded that the signa-
tures of R. B. Beaumont, G. W. Marsh
and E. C. Mackenzia on the Pheasant’s
Rump and Ocean Man bids were all
lorged by A.-C. B?dm -Jones, the for-
raer law partner of ey, deputy min-
igter of Indlan Affairs from 190210 1013

" The oh-going research by the Ottawa’
firm of Tyler, Wright and Daniell Lim-
ited, on subsequent surrenders and sales
shows the “‘unholy tr!nlty" falled tn Its
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The chronolo y .
of events 1898-1906

November, 1668 - Smart .tours Ass!mboia. wﬂm Sifion: “lmpreswd with

. Pheasant's Rump and Ocean Man reserves.
Det, 3, 1808 Smart Instructs Indlan Affairs staff to “lnveollgate" sunender ‘
of Phoasant’s Rump and Ccean Man reserves. -

. Junuary, 1899, Chekastapasin reserve offered for sale: Count von Rac}s n
Prince Albert. @ .

March, 1699 Von Racjs dismissed as “joumalxst "o

April, 1899 - Von Racis reappears in Prince Albert and obtains supppoﬂ of -
Board of Trade which appmaches T.0. Dnvln to obtaln “deal” on Chekasta-
pasin reserve;™. :

- Jusie 20, 1868 T, Davls obtalns sale of |

~ from Bifton. .

- June 23, 1899 .
Man reserves, S
November, 1899 Benneu tours Pheasant's Rump and Ocean Man reaerves
Oct. 2, 1809 'West and "Annstrong" pmposal to buy Pheasant s Rump and

" . Dcean Man fesorves received, - R
Early April, 1900 - Davis' sals ofbhekas'apasln Reserve faus throuigh.” .
]ﬁ:? April, 1800, Mitchell and Neeley" offer received for Chekutnpasln ’
erve b -
Janusry, 1001 Davis opposes sale to “Mitchell and Neeley”; Smsrt and
White urge Sifton to sell Pheasant's, Rump and Ocean Man reserves. .~ .+
Fsb. %, 1901 Torms for sale of Chékastapasin Rhservé agreed upon hy Bt

- Mmh o, 101
;. .seat to Otuwa -
.5 April 31901 smon recommends

_reserved-To Wekt and “Armstrong”, : -
Late Ap#il, 1908 - Armstrong arrives in Sour 5 lonowing lour of resétves, -
May 30, 1801 O d Liberals telegraph Siit on ding first option .

. on Pheasanl’s Rump and Ocean Man Teserves. :

May 30, 1861 Smart withdraws’ aecepta or sale to West an;j “Arm-

: s;rong" and *Mitchell and Neeley™, .-

- Oct. 2, 1901 - Smart ddvises Sifton to put an three rcserves forsale by tender
and sets a Nov, 15 deadtine, .

Ock. 25-Nov. 1, 1801 Sale of i resenu advemsed in various newspapers.
Nov. 8, 1901  Tenders for purchase of Pheasant’s Rump and Ocean Manre-’
serves prepared in Department of Interlor office. '~ . .
Nov. 15, 190t  Smart, Pedley and White awarded 288 of aoa quarler secuons :
on Pheagani's Rump-and Ocean Man reserves, °~ -
November, 1901 Bids prepared for purchase of Cheknsuapasln Reserve,
aghin In depanment offices; sent 1o A.C. Bedford-Jones to forge signatures,
Nov. 22, 1801 Closing date for Chekastapasin Reserve tenders; Smart, Pedt

ley and White obtain 8.683 of 14,884 acres placed for sale, .

1802 Smart, Pedley and White still at it; unsucessful in ebtaining 14square

. miles of Enochi Reserve, but obtain obtain ‘more than half of Cumberland R
100A Reserve offered for sale. - o
1898 White Land Company acqulres majorlly oI laan Man's and Grizzly
Bear’s Head merve,,

kastapasln Reserve ngreement .

n Pheasant’s Rump and Ocean

w
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